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Corporate Profile
Delphi Energy Corp. (“Delphi” or “the Company”) redefined itself in 2004. During its first full year 
of operations, the Company transformed itself from an emerging oil and gas explorer into a stable 
producer with both development and exploration upside.
Delphi became a publicly traded company in June 2003. The Company graduated from the TSX 
Venture Exchange to the Toronto Stock Exchange on August 3, 2004 and trades under the symbol 
DEE. Completion of a major corporate acquisition, announcement of a significant property acquisition 
and successful development activities and drilling throughout the year helped generate record 
production, reserves and cash flow. This success has provided a solid base for continued growth.
Delphi is based in Calgary with operations in North East British Columbia, North West Alberta 
and East Central Alberta. The Company’s corporate strategy is to focus on its areas of expertise, work 
with industry partners to enhance opportunity flow, balance low-risk development with high-impact 
exploration and make acquisitions to enhance its drilling inventory. 
The Company is committed to a balanced program of exploration and development plus acquisitions to 
grow a natural gas-weighted reserves and production base. Investment opportunities and risk profiles 
will be prudently managed to maintain a solid financial position while pursuing annual growth in per 
share terms.

 Corporate Strategy

THE

DELPHI
MODEL

ACQUISITIONS

Acquisitions that
enhance drilling

inventory

BALANCE

Balance low-risk
development with

high-impact exploration

FOCUS

Focus on areas
of expertise

PARTNERSHIPS

Work with industry
partners to enhance

opportunity flow
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 (sol’ id) adj. 1. Of good quality and substance. 2. Substantial;   
 hearty. 3. Sound; reliable. 4. Financially sound. 5. Upstanding   
 and dependable. 

sol•id
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Year Ended December 31  2004  2003
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS ($000s except per boe and per share amounts)    
Gross petroleum and natural gas sales $ 24,474 $ 14,305
 Per boe   39.19  36.87
Cash flow from operations  12,124  6,666
 Per boe   19.41  17.19
 Per share – Basic   0.45  0.31
    – Diluted   0.43  0.30
Earnings (loss)  1,952  2,134
 Per boe   3.12  5.50
 Per share – Basic and diluted  0.07  0.10
Capital costs  85,707  27,580
Debt, net   61,274  10,688
Total assets   171,947  51,468
SHARE INFORMATION (thousands)    
Shares outstanding     
 Basic   47,704  25,218
 Diluted    49,599  27,216
OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS    
Average daily production    
 Natural gas (mcf/d)  5,822  5,082
  Percentage of total production  57%  80%
 Oil and NGLs (bbl/d)  736  216
  Percentage of total production  43%  20%
Total (boe/d)   1,706  1,063
Average selling prices (Cdn$)    
 Natural gas ($/mcf )  6.72  6.56
 Oil and NGLs ($bbl/d)  37.73  27.10
 Total oil equivalent ($boe/d)  39.19  36.87
Wells drilled (net)  4.3  6.9
Undeveloped land    
 Gross acres  362,732  291,032
 Net acres   66,954  48,714
 Average working interest (%)  18.5  16.7
Proved plus probable reserves (P+P)     
 Natural gas (mmcf )  42,962.0  17,055.0
 Oil and NGLs (mbbls)  2,799.3  1,637.5
 Total oil equivalent (mboe)  9,959.7  4,480.0
Finding and development costs (P+P) ($/boe)   16.70  8.86
Reserve life index (P+P) (years)  10.4  7.4

2004 Highlights

 (fo’ kes) n. 1. A center of interest or activity. 2. Close or narrow   
 attention; concentration. v. 1. To converge on or toward a  
 central point of focus; be focused. 2. To concentrate attention  
 or energy.

fo•cus

DELPHI ENERGY CORP.
 2004 HIGHLIGHTS
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MAY 6, 2004: 
Delphi announces its first quarter results, reporting a 65 percent increase in cash flow year-over-year 
and a 131 percent increase in average production to 1,364 boe/d. Current production hits 1,700 boe/d.
AUGUST 3, 2004:
Delphi graduates to the Toronto Stock Exchange and trades under the symbol DEE.
AUGUST 19, 2004:
Delphi announces its second quarter results, including an increase of 87 percent in cash flow year-
over-year to $3.2 million and an increase of 97 percent in average production to 1,716 boe/d. Current 
production climbs to 1,850 boe/d.
OCTOBER 26, 2004:
Delphi announces the $57 million acquisition of a private oil and gas company, adding 1,200 boe/d and 
4.7 million boe proved plus probable reserves in North East British Columbia.
NOVEMBER 10, 2004:
Delphi closes a flow-through common share financing to raise $4 million.
NOVEMBER 15, 2004:
Delphi reports record cash flow for the third quarter of $3.6 million, an increase of 147 percent year-
over-year. The Company spends $11.1 million on an active capital program primarily in East Central 
Alberta. Production increases 41 percent year-over-year to 1,749 boe/d.
NOVEMBER 24, 2004:
Delphi closes a $20 million bought-deal financing.  
DECEMBER 6, 2004:
Delphi announces the $52 million acquisition of 24,000 acres of natural gas properties at Bigstone in 
Delphi’s core area of Berland River, about 250 kilometres northwest of Edmonton. The acquisition 
from a major oil and gas company adds 1,200 boe/d, weighted 83 percent to gas. Estimates put proved 
plus probable reserves at 3.4 million boe.
DECEMBER 9, 2004:
Delphi closes the $56 million acquisition of the private company.
DECEMBER 23, 2004:
Delphi closes its two previously announced bought-deal financings, consisting of a flow-through 
common share offering and a common share subscription receipt private placement, to raise a total of 
$36 million, proceeds of which were ultimately used to complete the Bigstone acquisition in early 2005.

Trading History

The Year in Review

DELPHI ENERGY CORP.
YEAR IN REVIEW
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In 2004, Delphi operated out of three 
core areas, based on a defined strategy  
of balancing low-risk development  
opportunities in East Central Alberta 
with high-impact exploration and devel-
opment drilling in North West Alberta. 
In December 2004, the Company added 
North East British Columbia to its 
inventory. All three core areas carry a 
substantial drilling prospect inventory. 
Delphi increased production by  
60 percent to 1,706 barrels of oil 
equivalent per day during 2004 and 
announced more than $108 million in 
corporate and property acquisitions. 
Delphi exited 2004 at 2,900 boe/d. The 
two major acquisitions position the 
Company for an exceptional 2005, with 
current production of approximately  
4,000 boe/d. 
Delphi redefined itself in 2004 as a 
Company capable of capturing significant 

opportunities by capitalizing on key relationships. Delphi is set apart from its peers through a proven 
acquisitions strategy and niche joint-venture relationships with major producers. Delphi announced the 
$57 million acquisition of a private company on October 26, 2004, giving the Company a significant 
presence in North East British Columbia with a long reserve life and a 100 percent natural gas-focused 
asset base. Delphi then capitalized on a strong relationship with a major producer on December 6, 2004, 
for the purchase of properties at Bigstone, Alberta for $50.7 million, further enhancing the Company’s 
exposure to long-life natural gas producing assets with significant development and exploration upside. 
The assets in North East British Columbia added 1,100 boe/d and 4.7 million boe of proved plus 
probable reserves in 2004. The reserve life index on these properties equates to a solid 11.7 years based 
on proved plus probable reserves. This acquisition was an excellent fit for Delphi’s exploration and 
development expertise in the area. The assets provide development and exploration upside on  
21,000 net acres of undeveloped land.
The acquisition of assets in the Bigstone area northwest of Edmonton in the Company’s core area of 
Berland River added production of 1,200 boe/d of natural gas and natural gas liquids (100 percent 
working interest). The acquisition included ownership in significant field pipeline infrastructure and 
a 29 percent working interest in an 80 mmcf/d processing facility, providing for low operating cost 
production and excess processing capacity for future development. The current reserve life index is 
7.8 years on proved plus probable reserves of 3.4 million boe.
The effect of Delphi’s major acquisitions announced at the end of 2004 create a larger, stronger 
production and cash flow base to fund the development and exploration upside within the Company’s 
assets that are expected to be realized over the next two to three years. Delphi has moved quickly to 
initiate its capital programs and has already begun to exploit the non-producing development upside 
within both the North East British Columbia and Bigstone assets. The Company intends to capitalize 
on several simple optimization, facility, and workover opportunities prior to spring break-up, resulting 
in immediate production growth from both areas of approximately 300 to 500 boe/d.

President’s letter
Delphi redefined itself in 
2004 as a company capable 
of capturing significant 
opportunities by capitalizing 
on key relationships.

DELPHI ENERGY CORP.
PRESIDENT’S LETTER
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Delphi looks significantly 
different in 2005 than it 
did in 2004. The Company 
now has almost 300 percent 
more reserves and more 
than twice the average daily 
production than it did a year 
ago, a longer reserve life, a 
greater weighting to gas, a 
lower decline profile and a 
significantly greater inventory 
of growth opportunities. 

Delphi funded its 2004 capital program through cash flow of $12.1 million, common share equity 
issues of $26.5 million and an increase in net debt of $37.8 million. The total net debt at the end of 
2004 was $61.3 million compared with $10.7 million in 2003. The Company intentionally leveraged 
the balance sheet to fund the acquisitions, reducing the dilutive effect of incremental equity. A solid 
asset base, strong commodity prices and a well-managed capital program will provide significant 
production and cash flow growth throughout 2005 and enable Delphi to both fund its 2005 capital 
program and reduce its net debt levels. Delphi expects to exit 2005 at 1 to 1.2 times debt to forecast 
cash flow.  Subsequent to the end of 2004, Delphi negotiated an increase in its operating credit facility 
to $79.5 million, used to fund the acquisition of assets at Bigstone, Alberta.
Delphi’s growth strategy has translated into returns for its shareholders. In March 2005, the share price 
was up 110 percent from year-end 2003 and 167 percent from startup. 
A key element of Delphi’s success is ensuring the right team is in place to drive the Company’s 
growth. Delphi has quickly responded to its rapid growth by adding six high-quality individuals to its 
management, technical, and administrative teams. Delphi has been able to attract skilled people with 
complementary skill sets to an already solid and proven team that has allowed us to hit the ground 
running at closing of the recent acquisitions. 

Outlook
Delphi looks significantly different in 2005 than it did in 2004. The Company now has almost  
300 percent more reserves and more than twice the average daily production than it did a year ago, 
a longer reserve life, a greater weighting to gas, a lower decline profile and a significantly greater 
inventory of growth opportunities. The Company is operating from a solid, focused asset base with 
record cash flow to fund its capital programs.
Delphi expects production volumes for 2005 to increase as its capital program is succesfully executed. 
Delphi anticipates production growth of more than 280 percent from 2004 to 2005, between 4,800 and 
5,300 boe/d during 2005. This would equate to a growth of 165 percent in production per share over 
three years. Delphi forecasts cash flow of  
$40 - 45 million in 2005, which would result in more than 300 percent growth in cash flow per share 
over the past three years.
Delphi has developed a proven ability to deliver organic growth on its existing asset base throughout 
2003 and 2004. Although the acquisitions have dominated the Company’s recent growth profile, the 
2005 capital program is focused on development and exploration opportunities within its asset base. In 
2005, Delphi’s plans are to spend approximately 80 percent of projected cash flow, with the remainder 
directed toward reducing the Company’s debt. The $35 - 40 million capital program will be focused  
75 percent to development projects, with the remainder allocated to high-impact exploration programs. 
Delphi expects to drill 40 wells, with an average working interest of 55 percent, taking advantage of 
its more than 70,000 net acres of undeveloped land in 2005. During the first quarter of 2005, the 
Company drilled 15 wells in Fontas and four wells in Bigstone.
We have closed out 2004 with significant momentum and look forward to an exciting and  
successful 2005. 
On behalf of the Board,

David J. Reid
President and Chief Executive Officer
March 11, 2005 DELPHI ENERGY CORP.

PRESIDENT’S LETTER
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During 2004, Delphi increased production and reserves primarily through low risk activity which 
included development drilling, the completion of additional productive zones within existing wells, 
high volume lift, construction of water disposal facilities and oil battery expansions. Delphi operates 
out of three core areas, based on a defined strategy of balancing low-risk shallow gas development 
drilling in North West Alberta and shallow oil development in East Central Alberta with high-impact 
gas exploration in North West Alberta. Recently, the Company added North East British Columbia 
to its inventory through an acquisition which closed on December 9, 2004. An additional material 
acquisition in North West Alberta closed on February 1, 2005. All three core areas carry a substantial 
drilling prospect inventory.
During 2004, Delphi’s production averaged 1,706 boe/d, consisting of 5,822 mcf/d of natural gas and 
736 bbls/d of crude oil and natural gas liquids. Delphi’s production was balanced between its core areas 
and weighted approximately 57 percent to natural gas. Exposure to both oil and natural gas mitigates 
individual project technical and timing risks as well as commodity pricing volatility. Delphi exited 2004 
at 2,900 boe/d and was producing approximately 4,000 boe/d as of March 2005.
Delphi’s 2005 capital budget is $35 - 40 million, approximately 80 percent of 2005 estimated cash flow. 
Ninety percent of the budget will be spent in North West Alberta and North East B.C., split about  
75 percent for development drilling and 25 percent for exploration drilling. Delphi expects to drill  
40 wells on some of its 70,000 net acres of undeveloped land in 2005 with an average working interest 
of 55 percent. 

PRODUCTION (boe/d)

Review of Operations

DELPHI ENERGY CORP.
REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

During 2004, Delphi’s 
production averaged 1,706 boe/d, 
consisting of 5,822 mcf/d of 
natural gas and 736 bbls/d 
of crude oil and natural gas 
liquids. Delphi’s production 
was balanced between its 
core areas and weighted 
approximately 57 percent to 
natural gas. 
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DELPHI ENERGY CORP.
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North East British Columbia
Delphi added a third core area on December 9, 2004 with the $57 million acquisition of a private 
oil and gas company. The acquisition provided Delphi with 21,000 net acres of undeveloped land 
in North East British Columbia, immediately adding 1,200 boe/d of natural gas production and 
offering significant growth potential. Delphi has identified numerous drilling, completion and tie-in 
opportunities on the properties, already believed to hold 4.7 million boe proved plus probable reserves. 
Most of these opportunities are development in nature and therefore lower risk. The area is typically 
accessible during the winter months only, presenting a timing challenge for the 2004/2005 winter 
drilling season due to the late closing date of the acquisition. Regulatory approvals, weather and 
equipment availability will all limit Delphi’s capital expenditures in North East B.C. in the first quarter 
of 2005. The 2005 capital budget for North East B.C. is approximately $6 million.
The majority of the assets in this area are located within 160 kilometres of Ft. Nelson, B.C, allowing 
gas to be gathered into the Duke pipeline system and processed at the Ft. Nelson plant. Natural gas in 
this area is produced from deeper (2,000 to 3,000 metre) Devonian reservoirs up to shallow (500 metre) 
Mississippian and Cretaceous reservoirs. 

�������
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�� ��
�� ��

��������� �������

������������

�����������

������

 (strat’ e jee) n. 1. A plan of action resulting from strategy or in  
 tended to accomplish a specific goal. 2. The art or skill of using  
 stratagems in endeavors such as politics and business.

strat•e•gy

Major areas of activity for 2004/2005 are as follows:
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WINDFLOWER

Delphi’s 8,200 net acres in the Windflower area of North East B.C. are characterized by shallow drill 
targets focused on structural highs mapped with 2D seismic data. Delphi currently produces about  
155 boe/d of gas at Windflower from the Mississippian Matson formation. In 2004, Delphi 
participated in the drilling of one gross (0.5 net) exploration well which was not successful. The 
Company is currently surveying the tie-in route for two existing standing-cased gas wells. Seismic 
data is currently being acquired in order to delineate step-out development locations for the fourth 
quarter of 2005 and the first quarter of 2006. Delphi expects to define another two locations north of 
Windflower for next winter.

 (eks klu’ siv) adj. 1. Complete; undivided. 2. Not divided or   
 shared with others. 3. Not accompanied by others; single or sole.ex•clu•sive

Delphi currently produces 
about 155 boe/d of gas 
at Windflower from the 
Mississippian Matson 
formation.
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MISSILE

The Company currently produces about 265 boe/d of gas from the Devonian Slave Point/Keg River 
and Jean Marie formations on its 3,800 net acres in Missile in North East British Columbia. Delphi 
is in the process of permitting pipelines in the area and plans to convert an existing standing-cased 
wellbore into a water disposal well. This activity, once completed, will allow the Company to optimize 
its existing Slave Point production, resulting in higher production and reduced operating costs. A 
regional 3D seismic survey over Missile has been acquired by one of the Company’s partners. This 
data will be used to initially define two horizontal Jean Marie locations that are budgeted to be 
drilled as early as the third quarter of 2005. There are currently up to 10 undrilled low-risk Jean Marie 
development locations on this property. Typical Jean Marie gas wells in this area yield initial production 
rates of approximately 2.5 mmcf/d and decline within one year to 1.0 mmcf/d, after which they decline 
at about 10 percent per year.
HELMET

Delphi holds an interest in 3,500 net acres in the Helmet area of North East B.C., an area 
characterized by natural gas targets in the Jean Marie, Debolt and Bluesky formations. The Jean Marie 
target is typically at about 1,500 metres drill depth while the Debolt and Bluesky are at approximately 
500 metres drill depth. Delphi has participated in the tie-in of a Bluesky gas well resulting in about 

The Company currently 
produces about 265 boe/d of 
gas form the Devonian Slave 
Point/Keg River and Jean 
Marie formations on its 3,800 
net acres in Missile in North 
East British Columbia. 

 (kap’ cher) v. 1. To attract and hold. 2. To gain possession or   
 control of, as in a game or contest. cap•ture

���������������������������

�������������������

MISSILE
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35 boe/d net of new production. Efforts for the rest of this winter will be focused on the tie-in of one 
existing cased Debolt gas well and the potential drilling of two development wells, weather permitting. 
In the case where surface conditions preclude Delphi from conducting these operations this winter; this 
activity will take place in the winter of 2005/2006. Contingent on success, Delphi has five additional 
locations ready to drill. Delphi is currently producing 60 boe/d from the Helmet North area. The 
primary target is the Jean Marie formation for which up to 20 low-risk development locations have 
been identified. 
CLARKE LAKE

Delphi holds an interest in 6,100 net acres of land in the Clarke Lake area of North East B.C. About 
170 boe/d of gas is produced from the Slave Point and Keg River formations at approximately 2,100 
metres drill depth. The Company recently participated in the drilling of a development well, which it 
hopes to tie-in prior to spring break-up. Additional development potential exists through the drilling of 
short radius horizontal wells and the re-entry and recompletion of existing cased wellbores. 

Delphi is currently producing 
60 boe/d from the Helmet 
North area. The primary target 
is the Jean Marie formation for 
which up to 20 low-risk  
development locations have 
been identified.

2005 CAPITAL PROGRAM 

��������
������
�������������
��������������
��������������
��������������������
���������������������������

���

���

���

��� ���

���

��

 (up’ syd) n. 1. An advantageous aspect. 2. An upward tendency,  
 as in business profitability or in the prices of a stock.up•side
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HELMET

CLARKE LAKE
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North West Alberta
Delphi’s North West Alberta region consists of four areas: Fontas, Berland River, Bigstone and 
Grande Prairie, where we have both a Development Joint Venture and an Exploration Joint Venture. 
Production in these areas range from shallow, natural gas development plays at Fontas to deep, high-
impact Devonian targets at Berland River and Grande Prairie. 
Delphi maintains excellent relationships with major oil and gas companies that operate in this area. 
Delphi is able to reduce the capital and time required to define and capture opportunities by making 
use of existing 3D seismic surveys and land positions held by various major companies. These joint 
venture relationships also help ensure access to critical gas gathering and processing infrastructure.
FONTAS 

Fontas offers attractive development opportunities from five extensive gas accumulations. The property, 
located about 240 kilometres north of Grande Prairie, Alberta, can be accessed by land during the 
winter only, limiting the window of opportunity to capitalize on development opportunities. Net 
production is currently 4 mmcf/d (700 boe/d) of natural gas, mostly from the Mississippian aged 
Debolt formations and the Cretaceous Detrital zone. Delphi has access to 2D seismic data set over 
the property to map out the existing pools and identify new prospects. The Company has an average 
working interest of 20 percent in the area, including a large contiguous land position of 185,000 gross 
acres. Wells range in depth from 700 metres to 800 metres and require four to seven days to drill. Also 
included in the Company’s 20 percent ownership is extensive pipeline infrastructure and a 40 mmcf/d 
sour gas processing plant that also provides third party processing income. The Fontas gas plant is tied 
into the Nova pipeline system. The facility includes one water disposal well and a salt-water pipeline.

Net production is currently 
4 mmcf/d (700 boe/d) of 
natural gas, mostly from the 
Mississippian aged Debolt 
formations and the Cretaceous 
Detrital zone.
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 (ri la’ shen ship) n. 1. The condition or fact of being related;  
 connection or association. 2. A particular type of connection   
 existing between people related to or having dealings with  
 each other.

re•la•tion•ship
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 (sig nif ’ e kent) adj. 1. Having or likely to have a major effect;   
 important. 2. Having or expressing a meaning; meaningful.sig•nif•i•cant  

During the winter of 2003/2004, Delphi participated in drilling 11 wells in Fontas. Three of these 
wells have been successfully completed as gas wells and tied-in; eight wells have been suspended or 
abandoned. Delphi also participated in 20 workovers of existing wells in the area and in the addition of 
booster compression, water handling facilities, pipeline inspection and major gas plant refurbishment. 
Over 50 percent of the capital was targeted toward facility optimization in order to prepare the property 
for continued development activity over the next five years.
The Company’s winter 2004/2005 capital program for Fontas, in partnership with a royalty trust, 
includes 15 wells to be drilled, completed and tied-in as well as various workovers of existing wells and 
the installation of a refrigeration plant, all at a cost of $27 million ($5.4 million net). Fourteen wells 
have been cased while one well has been abandoned. The Company is currently working on completing 
the wells and expects to tie them in shortly thereafter. Additional workovers and tie-ins of standing 

�����������

�����������������
������������

����������������
���������������

�������
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�����������������
�����������

In total, the Berland River 
area offers some year-round 
access and produces 1,375 boe/d 
with 14,000 net undeveloped 
acres. 

BERLAND RIVER
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The deeper and tighter nature 
of the multizone reservoirs 
at Bigstone provide Delphi 
with long life, high netback, 
production base from which to 
build the Company’s growth 
strategy.

tested wells are also planned. Some of the field’s production was curtailed (200 boe/d net to Delphi) as 
early as June 2004 because an oil mist was being produced along with the natural gas. A refrigeration 
unit installed in the first quarter of 2005, at a cost of $3.2 million ($640,000 net), will ensure the natural 
gas production meets the specified pipeline hydrocarbon dew point levels. This is expected to allow for 
unencumbered natural gas production for the foreseeable future.
BERLAND RIVER

Berland River offers Delphi multi-zone potential with an attractive risk/reward profile. The Company’s 
working interests in the area, approximately 250 kilometers northwest of Edmonton, Alberta, range 
from eight to 100 percent. The average working interest in the area is 80 percent, 95 percent of which is 
operated. 
The Company’s 10-22 Devonian exploration well tested up to 10 mmcf/d, has been tied in and is 
now on production. The 10-22 twin Cadomin test has been drilled and cased. If this well is deemed a 
success, Delphi has another six possible locations in the immediate area. Delphi’s 10-8 Devonian joint 
venture exploration well in Berland River has been tested in the deep Nisku formation. Although this 
formation did not test at economic rates, Delphi sees potential for sweet gas up-hole in the Cadomin 
and Gething zones that have yet to be completed. Delphi has a 55 percent working interest in the 10-8 
well. In total, the Berland River area offers some year-round access and produces 1,375 boe/d with 
14,000 net undeveloped acres. 
BIGSTONE

At Bigstone in the Berland River area, Delphi currently produces 1,200 boe/d (net), which consists of 
6 mmcf/d of sweet gas and 200 bbl/d of NGL, from about 25 wells. Delphi has a mostly 35 percent 
working interest in 11,000 acres of undeveloped land at Bigstone. Proved plus probable reserves total 
3.4 mmboe. The Company also has a 29 percent working interest in an 80 mmcf/d gas plant. The 
Company’s 2005 capital program for Bigstone calls for expenditures of $5 million net, for compressor 
optimization and upgrades, tie-in of standing wells, re-entries and workovers and development drilling. 
Pressure optimization plans for the area will involve the installation of two new compressors within 
the field gathering system to optimize production. Delphi believes that Bigstone holds tremendous 

����������
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 (kwol’ e tee) n. 1. Superiority of kind. 2. Degree or grade of  
 excellence. 3. An inherent or distinguishing characteristic.qual•i•ty
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promise in terms of re-entering existing cased wellbores. Delphi has an 18 percent working interest 
in a partnership with a major company on four sections of land in Bigstone, and drilled three wells on 
these lands over the 2004/2005 winter drilling season. All three wells have been cased and are in the 
process of being completed and tied-in. Bigstone is noteworthy because no one well is key to the area’s 
success. Production comes from multiple wells and multiple zones. The deeper and tighter nature of the 
multizone reservoirs at Bigstone provide Delphi with long life, high netback production from which to 
build the Company’s growth strategy.

Development Joint Venture
A joint venture relationship with a senior industry producer provides Delphi with an enviable 
opportunity to work with that company’s seismic data to select specific locations that are of interest 
from among a high number of low-risk recompletion and workover opportunities. The potential for 
this development joint venture relationship is substantial. Management believes that this development 
joint venture, negotiated as part of Delphi’s Bigstone acquisition announced in December 2004, has 
the potential to be more significant than the acquisition itself. As part of the deal, Delphi is targeting 
27 wells for recompletions or bypassed pay in the Grande Prairie area of North West Alberta. The 
joint venture allows Delphi to earn up to a 100 percent working interest in 19,200 acres subject to a 
gross overriding royalty. The area features multi-zone targets of sweet gas and light oil. Delphi’s capital 
program for the development joint venture in 2005 is $7 million and provides the opportunity for 
substantial upside without having to drill new wells. Delphi has two wells on production now and 
expects to have a third on production before the end of the 2004/2005 winter drilling season. The 
Company has spent $ 0.5 million to bring on 100 boe/d of long-life sweet gas from the two wells that 
are now on production. The terms of the joint venture call for Delphi to pay 100 percent of the re-entry 
costs with the senior producer having the right to elect to convert to a 50 percent interest or maintain a 
gross overriding royalty. 

 (nich) n. 1. A situation or activity suited to one’s interests or  
 abilities. 2. A special area of demand for a product or service.niche

The joint venture allows  
Delphi to earn up to a 100 
percent working interest in 
19,200 acres subject to a Gross 
Overriding Royalty. The area 
features multi-zone targets of 
sweet gas and light oil.
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Exploration Joint Venture
Delphi’s 2005 exploration joint venture with a senior industry producer involves a five-well 
commitment in North West Alberta. As part of the agreement, Delphi pays 100 percent of initial 
drilling and completion or abandonment costs to earn a 60 percent working interest. Delphi has access 
to the senior producer’s extensive 3D seismic as well as pipeline and processing infrastructure. The 
targets of this exploration joint venture are three Devonian/Wabamun wells that typically offer 15 
to 25 bcf of reserves per well with initial production typically of 10 mmcf/d per well. Delphi is also 
targeting one Mississippian/Banff well in the Ferrier area of Alberta. The final well, as part of the five-
well commitment, is a Cadomin well in the Cutbank area which, by comparison is typically lower risk, 
offering 1 to 5 mmcf/d of production from reserves of about 5 to 8 bcf/well. At a cost of $3 million 
per well, Delphi is in the process of securing partners for this exploration joint venture. These wells are 
expensive and involve significant risk, but the potential impact is great. The Company has assigned $10 
million to the program.

  (bal´ens´d) v. 1. compare the value, importance, etc. of. 
 2. bring into or keep in a steady condition or position.bal•anced

The targets of this exploration 
joint venture are three  
Devonian/Wabamun wells 
that typically offer 15 to 25 bcf 
of reserves per well.  
Initial production is typically  
10 mmcf/d per well.

������

�����

���
��

�������
�������

�������

�������

���� ���� ���� ����

CASH FLOW ($000s) 
(per share)

����������������

������

�������������

�������

��������

��������������
�������

��������

��������

DELPHI ENERGY CORP.
REVIEW OF OPERATIONS



DELPHI ENERGY CORP.
ANNUAL REPORT 2004 17

East Central Alberta
East Central Alberta offers Delphi 60 potential infill and step-out drilling locations on four key 
properties:  Thompson Lake, Neutral Hills, Horseshoe and Chauvin. Current production from this 
area is approximately 820 boe/d, consisting of 85 percent oil and 15 percent natural gas. Although 
Delphi has an abundance of low-cost infill drilling and field optimization opportunities in East Central 
Alberta, these projects will have to compete economically with the gas opportunities in North West 
Alberta and North East BC. The Company intends to spend $3 million in capital expenditures in this 
area in 2005.

  (chal’ enj) n. 1. A test of one’s abilities or resources in a  
demanding but stimulating undertaking. chal•lenge 
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Current production from 
this area is approximately 
820 boe/d, consisting of 
85 percent oil and 15 percent 
natural gas. 
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Operational Statistics
Reserves
In a report dated February 25, 2005, Gilbert Laustsen Jung Associates Ltd. (GLJ), the Company’s independent petroleum engineering 
firm, evaluated the crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids reserves of the Company as at December 31, 2004. GLJ based their 
evaluation on land data, well and geological information, reservoir studies, estimates of on-stream dates, contract information, current 
hydrocarbon product prices, operating cost data, capital budget forecasts and future operating plans provided by the Company and 
prepared their report in accordance with NI 51-101. The Audit Committee, with the mandate of reviewing the independent engineering 
report, has recommended the acceptance of the GLJ reserve estimates for purposes of the Annual Report. The Board of Directors, on the 
recommendation of the Audit Committee, has approved the GLJ reserve estimates.

Reserves Reconciliation 
The reconciliation of the Company’s proved, probable and proved plus probable reserves for December 31, 2004 is as follows:

Reconciliation of Company Gross Reserves (1)

 Crude oil and NGL (mbbls) Natural gas (mmcf ) Mboe (6:1)

     Proved Probable Total Proved  Probable Total Proved Probable Total
January 1, 2004 1,112.0  525.5  1,637.5  12,507.0  4,548.0 17,055.0  3,196.5  1,283.5  4,480.0 
Discoveries and extensions 329.2 317.3 646.5 2,600.0 1,400.0 4,000.0 762.5 550.6 1,313.1
Technical revisions 263.3 (121.5) 141.8 (1,300.2) (1,462.0) (2,762.2) 46.6 (365.1) (318.5)
Dispositions  - - - - - - - - -
Acquisitions  313.5 329.3  642.8  18,400.0  8,400.0 26,800.0 3,380.2  1,729.3 5,109.5
Total additions, net of revisions 2,018.0 1,050.6 3,068.6 32,206.8 12,886.0 45,092.8  7,385.8  3,198.3 10,584.1
Production  (269.3) - (269.3) (2,130.8) - (2,130.8) (624.4) - (624.4)
January 1, 2005 1,748.7  1,050.6  2,799.3  30,076.0  12,886.0 42,962.0  6,761.4 3,198.3  9,959.7 
(1) Gross reserves represent the Company’s interest before deducting royalties and including any royalty interest of the Company.

Summary of Reserves
The following table outlines the oil and natural gas liquids and natural gas reserves of the Company on a gross (before royalties) basis. 
Proved producing reserves increased 118 percent as compared to 2003 and proved plus probable reserves increased by 122 percent. Proved 
plus probable natural gas reserves increased 152 percent compared to the previous year.

Company Interest Reserves (1)

      2004  2003  % Change
Proved producing oil and NGLs (mbbls)  1,258.6  794.5  58%
Proved producing natural gas (mmcf )  23,034.0  9,239.0  149%
Total proved producing (mboe)  5,097.6  2,334.3  118%
Proved oil & NGLs (mbbls)  1,748.7  1,112.0  57%
Proved natural gas (mmcf )  30,076.0  12,507.0  140%
Total proved (mboe)  6,761.4  3,196.5  112%
Probable oil & NGLs (mbbls)  1,050.6  525.5  100%
Probable natural gas (mmcf )  12,886.0  4,548.0  183%
Total probable (mboe)  3,198.3  1,283.5  149%
Proved plus probable oil & NGLs (mbbls)  2,799.3  1,637.5  71%
Proved plus probable natural gas (mmcf )  42,962.0  17,055.0  152%
Total proved plus probable (mboe)  9,959.7  4,480.0  122%
(1) Gross reserves represent the Company’s interest including royalty interests before the deduction of royalties.

DELPHI ENERGY CORP.
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Pricing and Inflation Rate Forecasts
The following table sets forth GLJ’s December 31, 2005 pricing, currency exchange rate and inflation rate used in the preparation of the 
GLJ reserve estimates.

      Currency Edmonton AECO-C 
     WTI exchange rate   reference price  spot price Inflation 
Pricing assumptions  ($US/bbl) ($US/$Cdn)  ($Cdn/bbl) ($Cdn/mmbtu)  (%)

2005   42.00 0.82 50.25 6.60 2.0
2006   40.00 0.82 47.75 6.35 2.0
2007   38.00 0.82 45.50 6.15 2.0
2008   36.00 0.82 43.25 6.00 2.0
2009   34.00 0.82 40.75 6.00 2.0
2010   33.00 0.82 39.50 6.00 2.0
2011   33.00 0.82 39.50 6.00 2.0
2012   33.00 0.82 39.50 6.00 2.0
2013   33.50 0.82 40.00 6.10 2.0
2014   34.00 0.82 40.75 6.20 2.0
2015   34.50 0.82 41.25 6.30 2.0
Escalate thereafter at 2.0%/yr 0.82 2.0%/yr 2.0%/yr 2.0

Net Present Value of Reserves – Escalated Pricing (1) (2)

The net present values of future net revenue of the Company’s reserves at various discount rates on a before income tax basis are outlined 
below.

     Undiscounted Discounted at 8% Discounted at 10%
Proved
 Developed producing 89,911 66,586 62,790
 Developed non-producing 13,898 9,724 8,976
 Undeveloped 8,165 4,491 3,954
Total proved 111,974 80,801 75,720
Probable  42,700 23,215 20,380
Total proved plus probable 154,674 104,016 96,100
(1) Includes ARTC and before income taxes.
(2)  As required by NI 51-101, undiscounted well abandonment of $3.9 million, 8 percent discounted of $2.5 million and 10 percent discounted of $2.2 million for total proved and  

$4.6 million, $2.5 million and $2.2 million respectively, for total proved plus probable reserves are included in net present value determination.

DELPHI ENERGY CORP.
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Net Present Value of Reserves – Constant Pricing (1) (2) (3)

The net present values of future net revenue of the Company’s reserves at various discount rates on a before income tax basis using 
constant prices are outlined below.

     Undiscounted Discounted at 8% Discounted at 10%
Proved
 Developed producing 95,229 68,111 63,813
 Developed non-producing 13,156 8,960 8,224
 Undeveloped 9,812 5,618 4,991
Total Proved 118,197 82,689 77,028
Probable  45,014 23,921 20,893
Total proved plus probable 163,211 106,610 97,921
(1) Includes ARTC and before income taxes
(2)  As required by NI 51-101, undiscounted well abandonment of $3.5 million, 8 percent discounted of $2.5 million and 10 percent discounted of $2.3 million for total proved and  

$3.9 million, $2.1 million and $2.1 million respectively, for total proved plus probable reserves are included in net present value determination.
(3) Price assumptions: $46.54/bbl Edmonton Reference Price and $6.79/mmbtu AECO “C”. 

Finding and On-Stream Costs 
The finding costs for 2004 and 2003 are outlined below for proved and proved plus probable reserve additions.

      2004  2003
Finding Costs ($000s)

 Land   1,226  728
 Seismic   224  486
 Drilling and completion  20,902  5,863
 Other   2,093  428
 Acquisitions  52,391  16,565
 Total finding costs  76,836  24,070
 Facilities   8,871  3,510
 Total on stream costs  85,707  27,580
Reserve additions (mmboe) (2)  
 Proved   4,189.3  2,326.3
 Proved plus probable  6,104.1  2,978.7
Finding costs per unit ($/boe)  
 Proved   18.34  10.35
 Proved plus probable  12.59  8.08
On-stream ($/boe)  
 Proved   20.46  11.86
 Proved plus probable  14.04  9.26
On-stream including incremental future capital ($/boe) (1)  
 Proved   21.52  12.44
 Proved plus probable  16.70  8.86
(1)  Includes the net increase (decrease) in future development costs on proved reserves of $4,437 and $1,360 in 2004 and 2003 respectively; on proved plus probable reserves of $16,223 

and $(1,179) in 2004 and 2003.
(2) Includes acquisitions and revisions.
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Reserve Life Index
The reserve life index of Delphi has been calculated by annualizing December 2004 production due to the acquisition of Tercero Energy 
Inc. on December 9, 2004. The Company’s reserve life index has increased significantly with the acquisition of natural gas properties in 
northeast British Columbia. The reserve life index is greater than ten years on a proved plus probable basis.

 Crude oil and NGL (mbbls) Natural gas (mmcf ) Mboe (6:1)

2004   Proved Probable Total Proved  Probable Total Proved Probable Total
Reserves - December 31, 2004 1,748.7  1,050.6  2,799.3  30,076.0  12,886.0 42,962.0  6,761.4 3,198.3  9,959.7 
Sales volume for 
 December 2004 annualized 341  341 3,728  3,728 962  962
Reserves life index (years) 5.1  8.2 8.1  11.5 7.0  10.4

Reserves Per Outstanding Common Share
The Company has increased the reserves per common share by 49 percent to 265 boe per 1,000 common shares. 

      2004  2003  % Change
Proved and probable reserves (mboe - 6:1)  9,959.7  4,480.0  122%
Proved and probable boe reserves per 1,000 outstanding common share (1)  265  178  49%
(1) 2004 calculation does not include subscription receipts of 10,169,494 issued for the Bigstone, Alberta acquisition which closed on February 1, 2005.

Acreage Summary
The Company’s total and undeveloped landholdings by geographic focus area as at December 31, 2004 are outlined below.

 Total Undeveloped
              Fair market 
December 31, 2004 (acres)  Gross  Net  Gross  Net   value (1)

Northwest Alberta   308,183  45,720  263,800  34,684 $ 5,372,048
Northeast British Columbia  150,086  31,958  78,892  21,330  1,457,118
East Central Alberta  71,848  31,272  20,040  10,940  1,576,116
Total    530,117  108,950  362,732  66,954 $ 8,405,282
(1) Seaton Jordon & Associates Ltd. – Undeveloped lands only.
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Supplemental Reserves Information
Subsequent to year end, the Company acquired liquids rich natural gas production and reserves at Bigstone, Alberta for $50.7 million and 
disposed of two non core areas for $6.0 million. Based on reserves information provided by GLJ, management of Delphi has compiled the 
following tables outlining the oil and natural gas liquids and natural gas reserves of the Company on a gross (before royalties) basis and 
the net present values of future net revenue of the Company’s reserves as of February 1, 2005.
COMPANY INTEREST RESERVES (1)  

      February 1, 2005  December 31, 2004 % Change
Proved producing oil and NGLs (mbbls) 1,610.6 1,258.6 28%
Proved producing natural gas (mmcf ) 34,033.9 23,034.0 48%
Total proved producing (mboe) 7,282.9 5,097.6 43%
Proved oil & NGLs (mbbls) 2,145.7 1,748.7 23%
Proved natural gas (mmcf ) 41,900.9 30,076.0 39%
Total proved (mboe) 9,129.2 6,761.4 35%
Probable oil & NGLs (mbbls) 1,159.6 1,050.6 10%
Probable natural gas (mmcf ) 16,822.0 12,886.0 31%
Total probable (mboe) 3,963.3 3,198.3 24%
Proved plus probable oil & NGLs (mbbls) 3,305.3 2,799.3 18%
Proved plus probable natural gas (mmcf ) 58,722.9 42,962.0 37%
Total proved plus probable (mboe) 13,092.5 9,959.7 31%
(1) Gross reserves represent the Company’s interest including royalty interests before the deduction of royalties.

Net Present Value of Reserves – Escalated Pricing (1)

     Undiscounted Discounted at 8% Discounted at 10%
Proved 
 Developed producing 149,970 108,443 101,756
 Developed non-producing 17,939 12,666 11,715
 Undeveloped 7,188 3,790 3,304
Total proved 175,097 124,899 116,775
Probable  63,509 33,499 29,344
Total proved plus probable 238,606 158,398 146,119
(1)  Includes ARTC and before income taxes. 

Net Asset Value
The net asset value of the Company on a proved plus probable basis includes the acquisition of Bigstone, Alberta for  
$50.7 million and the minor property dispositions of $6 million. Using an 8 percent discount rate, the net asset value of Delphi is 
summarized below.

($000s except per share data)   Proved Plus Probable
Estimated net future revenues from GLJ report discounted at 8%      158,398
Value of undeveloped land      8,405
Bank debt plus working capital (1)      (64,743)
Net asset value      102,060
Common shares outstanding (2)      50,431
Net asset value per share      2.02
(1)  Bank debt plus working capital at December 31, 2004 (excluding cash held in trust), plus bank funding of $20.7 million for the Bigstone acquisition, less proceeds on disposition 

of $6 million and net proceeds of $11.2 million from the flow-through financing closed on March 31,  2005.
(2) Shares outstanding includes the flow-through financing closed on March 31, 2005.
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The following discussion and analysis has been prepared by management, and reviewed and approved by the 
Board of Directors of Delphi Energy Corp. (“Delphi” or the “Company”). The discussion and analysis is a 
review of the financial results of the Company based upon accounting principles generally accepted in Canada. 
Its focus is primarily a comparison of the financial performance for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 
2003 and should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and accompanying notes. The 
discussion and analysis has been prepared as of March 14, 2005. 

NON GAAP Measures. For the purpose of reporting production information, reserves and calculating unit prices and costs, natural gas volumes 
have been converted to a barrel of oil equivalent (boe) using six thousand cubic feet equal to one barrel. A boe conversion ratio of 6:1 is based upon an 
energy equivalency conversion method primarily applicable at the burner tip and does not represent a value equivalency at the wellhead. This conver-
sion conforms with NI 51-101. Boes may be misleading, particularly if used in isolation.
Cash flow from operations is not a recognized measure under Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. Management believes that cash 
flow from operations is a useful measure of financial performance. Delphi’s determination of cash flow from operations may not be comparable to that 
reported by other companies. The Company also presents cash flow from operations per share whereby amounts per share are calculated using weighted 
average shares outstanding consistent with the calculation of earnings per share.
Forward-Looking Statements. Certain information regarding Delphi set forth in this document, including management’s assessment of the 
Company’s future plans and operations, contains forward-looking statements that involve substantial known and unknown risks and uncertainties. 
These forward-looking statements are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, certain of which are beyond the Company’s control, including the 
impact of general economic conditions, industry conditions, volatility of commodity prices, currency fluctuations, imprecision of reserve estimates, 
environmental risks, competition from other oil and gas companies, the lack of availability of qualified personnel or management, stock market 
volatility and ability to access sufficient capital from both internal and external sources. The Company’s actual results, performance or achievement 
could differ materially from those expressed in, or implied by, these forward-looking statements, and accordingly, no assurance can be given that any 
of the events anticipated by the forward-looking statements will transpire or occur. 

Management’s Discussion & Analysis

DELPHI ENERGY CORP.
MD&A

Highlights
 ■ Average production for 2004 increased 60 percent to 1,706 boe/d, primarily a result of  
  development activities on existing assets offset by natural declines.
 ■  Cash flow for 2004 was $12.1 million ($0.45 per share), increasing 81 percent over the  

prior year.
 ■  Net earnings were $2.0 million (0.07 per share) compared to $2.1 million ($0.10 per share) 

for the year ended December 31, 2003.
 ■  Capital costs in 2004 of $85.7 million resulted in a net 6.1 million boe of proved plus  

probable reserve additions at $16.70/boe.
 ■  In 2004, Delphi closed the corporate acquisition of Tercero Energy Inc., giving Delphi a 

significant presence in northeast British Columbia and long life natural gas production.
 ■  Corporate proved reserve life index was extended to 7.0 years in 2004 from 5.2 years in 2003.
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Annual Information
 Year Ended December 31
Financial Highlights ($000s except per boe and per share amounts)  2004  2003
Gross petroleum and natural gas sales  24,474  14,305
 Per boe   39.19  36.87
Cash flow from operations  12,124  6,666
 Per boe   19.41  17.19
 Per share – Basic   0.45  0.31
    – Diluted   0.43  0.30
Earnings    1,952  2,134
 Per boe   3.12  5.50
 Per share – Basic and Diluted  0.07  0.10
Capital costs  85,707  27,580
Debt plus working capital deficit  61,274  10,688
Total assets   171,947  51,468
Shares outstanding 
 Basic   47,704  25,218
 Diluted    49,599  27,216
 Average Daily Production  
Natural gas (mcf/d)  5,822  5,082
 Percentage of total production  57%  80%
Oil and natural gas liquids (bbl/d)  736  216
 Percentage of total production  43%  20%
Total (boe/d)   1,706  1,063

Production
Year Ended December 31  2004  2003  % Change
Natural gas (mcf/d)  5,822  5,082  15
Crude oil (bbls/d)  693  185  275
Natural gas liquids (bbls/d)  43  31  39
Total (boe/d)   1,706  1,063  60

Production for the year ended December 31, 2004 of 1,706 boe/d was comprised of 57 percent natural gas and 43 percent crude oil and 
natural gas liquids. Average production volumes increased 60 percent on a year-over-year basis in 2004 compared to 2003 primarily as a 
result of capital programs undertaken during the year and full year production from prior year acquisitions.
Natural gas production increased 15 percent during 2004 compared to 2003, as a result of full year production from the properties 
acquired through the amalgamation with Rise Energy Ltd. in June 2003, increased production in East Central Alberta and the acquisition  
of Tercero Energy Inc., a private natural gas producer, late in 2004. Natural gas production at Fontas, Alberta had been curtailed by 
approximately 1,500 mcf/d for the last six months of the year due to lowered pressure on the Nova sales line in the area resulting in 
hydrocarbon dew point issues. The curtailment has been resolved with the installation of a refrigeration unit at Fontas in February 2005.
Crude oil production was 275 percent higher for the year ended 2004 averaging 693 bbl/d compared to 185 bbls/d for the year ended 
2003. This increase is due to full year production from acquisitions undertaken late in the previous year and the Company’s capital 
program in East Central, Alberta consisting of facility expansion and optimization, recompletion of non-productive wells and the restart 
of numerous shut-in oil wells.
Delphi expects production for 2005 to average between 4,800 and 5,300 boe/d. This estimate incorporates the Company’s  
February 1, 2005 acquisition of natural gas properties at Bigstone, Alberta, natural decline rate, anticipated operating interruptions and 
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estimated production additions from the 2005 capital program. Factors influencing the estimated average production for 2005 include 
drilling success and the time required to bring new or re-completed wells on-stream.

Commodity Prices
BENCHMARK PRICES

Year Ended December 31  2004  2003  % Change
Natural gas
New York Mercantile Exchange (US$/mmbtu)  6.18  5.60  10
AECO (Cdn$/mcf )  6.56  6.67  (2)
Crude oil
West Texas Intermediate (US$/bbl)  41.40  31.04  33
Edmonton Light (Cdn$/bbl)  52.69  43.61  21
Foreign exchange rate
Canadian to US dollar  1.3015  1.4015  (7)
US to Canadian dollar  0.7683  0.7135  8

Natural Gas 
United States natural gas prices are commonly referenced to the New York Mercantile Exchange at the Henry Hub, Louisiana 
(NYMEX) index price while Canadian natural gas prices are typically referenced to the AECO Hub in Alberta (AECO). Natural gas 
prices are influenced more by North American supply and demand than global fundamentals. In 2004, the AECO natural gas price 
averaged $6.56/mcf compared to $6.67/mcf in 2003. 

Crude Oil
West Texas Intermediate at Cushing, Oklahoma (WTI) is the benchmark reference for North American crude oil prices. Canadian crude 
oil prices are based upon postings, primarily at Edmonton, Alberta, and represent the WTI price adjusted for quality and transportation 
differentials as well as the Canadian/US dollar exchange rate. 
In 2004, WTI averaged US$41.40/bbl compared to US$31.04/bbl in 2003 with significant volatility throughout the year ranging from 
approximately US$30.00/bbl to over US$55.00/bbl at its peak in October, 2004. At December 31, 2004, WTI closed at  
and has continued to increase to over US$56.00/bbl in March 2005. The increase in benchmark crude oil prices during 2004 and 
early into 2005 has been due to concern over supply with increasing demand. Several factors affecting these fundamentals include the 
Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries’ (OPEC)’s determination to support higher prices, political risk in the Middle East, the 
stability of Iraq production, crude oil and product inventories in North America and increased demand in Asia, particularly China. 
During 2004, Canadian crude oil prices were negatively affected in the last half of the year as a result of the strengthening Canadian dollar 
relative to its US counterpart. The Canadian dollar ranged from CDN/US$1.2900 on January 2, 2004 to a high of CDN/US$1.3931 in 
May 2004 before rallying for the rest of the year and closing at CDN/US$1.2036 at December 31, 2004.
Heavy oil differentials also widened throughout the year primarily due to an increase in the supply of heavier crude oils from new heavy 
oil projects and reduced demand from refineries. This was particularly noticeable in the latter part of 2004 and has continued into 2005. 
Differentials began widening in the fourth quarter of 2004, ranging between $20.00 and $25.00 per barrel and have continued to remain 
at approximately $25.00 in early 2005, wider than recent historical averages of between $10.00 and $15.00 per barrel.

Average Sales Prices 
Year Ended December 31  2004  2003  % Change
Natural gas ($/mcf )  6.72  6.56  2
Crude oil ($/bbl)  37.48  26.83  40
Natural gas liquids ($/bbl)  41.73  28.68  46
Total ($/boe)   39.19  36.87  6
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The Company’s average realized sales price per boe increased 6 percent in 2004 over 2003. The average natural gas sales price increased 
slightly at 2 percent compared to the previous year matching the trend of AECO benchmark prices. The realized average crude oil sales 
price increased 40 percent reflecting the increase in benchmark crude prices.

Revenue
Year Ended December 31 ($000s)  2004  2003  % Change
Natural gas   14,314  12,172  18
Crude oil   9,505  1,808  426
Natural gas liquids  655  325  102
Total    24,474  14,305  71

Year-over-year total revenues increased $10,169,000 or 71 percent in 2004 as compared to 2003. Of the increase in total revenue,  
76 percent is attributable to crude oil sales, which increased 426 percent over 2003 primarily due to increased production volumes and 
higher realized crude oil prices. Natural gas revenues increased 18 percent compared to the previous year primarily as a result of increased 
production volumes as realized natural gas prices remained stable. 

Royalties
Year Ended December 31 ($000s except per boe amounts)  2004  2003  % Change
Crown    3,407  2,572  32
Freehold and gross overriding  943  383  146
Total royalties   4,350  2,955  47
Royalty credits  (1,691)  (133)  1,171
Total    2,659  2,822  (6)
Per boe   4.26  7.27  (41)
Percent of total revenue  10.9%  19.8%  (45)

The Company pays royalties to provincial governments, freeholders, that can be individuals or companies, and other oil and gas operators, 
that own surface or mineral rights. The Company also receives Alberta Royalty Tax Credit (ARTC), a tax rebate received from the Alberta 
government for eligible crown royalties paid in the year. Royalty rates are calculated on a sliding scale based on commodity prices and 
individual well production rates. Royalty rates can change due to price increase or due to an increase in production volumes on a well by 
well basis. Total royalties in 2004 increased 47 percent compared to 2003, as a result of increased production and higher oil and natural gas 
prices year-over-year. Royalties as a percentage of revenue decreased 45 percent for the year ended December 31, 2004 compared to 2003, 
due to increased gas cost allowance rebates and ARTC for 2004.
Delphi is estimating its royalty rate in 2005 to average approximately 20 percent of revenue. Royalty rates can vary according to a 
number of factors including the difference in reference prices compared to wellhead prices, royalty holiday status of wells, individual well 
production and proportionate types of royalties. 

Operating Expenses
Year Ended December 31 ($000s except per boe amounts)  2004  2003  % Change
Total      5,916  3,043  94
Per boe   9.47  7.84  21
Percent of total revenue   24.1%  21.3%  13

Operating expenses increased $2,873,000 in 2004 compared to 2003, primarily due to a 60 percent increase in production volumes in 
2004. On a per boe basis annual operating costs increased 21 percent over 2003, primarily a result of costs associated with the start-up of 
incremental oil production from shut-in wells in East Central Alberta, as well as higher rates on electricity and fuel. 
Total operating costs, on a per unit basis, are expected to decrease as a result of the acquisition of lower operating cost natural gas 
properties late in 2004 and in early 2005 and as the Company continues to create operating synergies in its core areas of operation.
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Transportation Expenses
Year Ended December 31 ($000s except per boe amounts)  2004  2003  % Change
Total      1,173  629  86
Per boe   1.88  1.62  16
Percent of total revenue   4.8%  4.4%  9

In accordance with new reporting requirements, transportation costs are no longer netted against sales or included in operating costs. 
All transportation costs have been reclassified and are being reported separately. Transportation costs are higher by $544,000, an increase 
of 86 percent, in 2004 compared to 2003, primarily due to a 60 percent increase in production volumes in 2004. On a per boe basis, 
transportation costs increased 16 percent over 2003 primarily due to increased costs associated with trucking of crude oil volumes and gas 
transportation fees. 
Transportation costs, on a per unit basis, are expected to increase as a result of the corporate acquisition of natural gas properties late in 
2004 which have higher transportation costs due to their location in northeastern British Columbia.

General and Administrative
Year Ended December 31 ($000s except per boe amounts)  2004  2003  % Change
General and administrative costs   2,874  1,300  121
Stock-based compensation expense  599  –  –
Overhead recoveries  (741)  (175)  323
Salary reallocations  (546)  (356)  53
Total     2,186  769  184
Per boe   3.50  1.98  77

General and administrative costs increased 121 percent in 2004 from 2003, primarily due to additional staff, higher office rent and 
operating costs and increased public company expenses required as a result of the increased size of the Company’s operations and its 
increased asset base. Overhead recoveries recorded in 2004 are primarily due to operating oil and gas properties and the significant 
increase in operated capital programs. Salary reallocations increased by 53 percent due to increased staff efforts toward the Company’s 
capital program and greater field operations.
The non-cash item of stock-based compensation expense is the amortization over the vesting period of the fair value of stock options 
granted to employees, directors and key consultants of the Company. The fair value of all options granted are estimated at the date of grant 
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The recording of the expense is a result of adopting a new accounting policy, retroactively 
without restatement of prior periods, effective January 1, 2004. The expense in 2004 was $599,000. The retroactive adjustment for prior 
years, in the amount of $668,000, was charged to retained earnings. 

Interest
Year Ended December 31 ($000s except per boe amounts)  2004  2003  % Change
Financing    798  209  282
Other charges  46  65  (29)
Interest income  (50)  (3)  1,567
Total     794  271  193
Per boe   1.27  0.70  81

Interest expense in the year ended December 31, 2004 increased $523,000 over 2003, a result of increased average debt balances 
offset slightly by lower interest rates and increased interest income received from funds held in trust during the year. Debt increased 
from $8,500,000 at the beginning of the year to $57,400,000 by the end of the year to fund the Company’s increased exploration and 
development program and corporate acquisition of Tercero Energy Inc. The corporate acquisition closed late in the year and was financed 
with a combination of debt and the issuance of shares. 
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Depletion, Depreciation and Accretion
Year Ended December 31 ($000s except per boe amounts)  2004  2003  % Change
Depletion and depreciation   8,688  4,008  117
Accretion expense of asset retirement obligations  315  67  370
Total    9,003  4,075  121
Per boe   14.42  10.53  37

Depletion and depreciation expense was $8,688,000 in 2004 compared to $4,008,000 in 2003. The year-over-year increase of 117 percent 
was due to production increases of 60 percent and a 35 percent increase in the depletion rate per unit-of-production to $13.91 in the year 
from $10.33 in 2003. This increase is primarily attributable to higher cost proved reserve additions in the year and a larger capital base. 
Accretion expense of asset retirement obligations relates to the passing of time until the Company estimates it will retire its assets and 
restore the asset locations to a condition which meets or exceeds environmental standards. Due to the long term nature of certain assets 
of the Company, this accretion expense is estimated to extend over a term of 3 to 20 years. The accretion expense for 2004 was $315,000 
compared to $67,000 in 2003. This 370 percent increase is primarily due to property, plant and equipment additions in the year. The 
Company uses a credit adjusted risk-free rate of 8 percent and an inflation rate of 2.5 percent for the purpose of calculating the fair value 
of its asset retirement obligations and accretion expense.
The Company is required to review the carrying value of all property, plant and equipment for potential impairment. Impairment is 
indicated if the carrying value of the long-lived assets is not recoverable based on estimated future undiscounted cash flows. At  
December 31, 2004, the Company performed an impairment test, using forecast commodity prices consistent with its engineering report, 
which indicated no impairment.

Taxes 
Year Ended December 31 ($000s)  2004  2003  % Change
Current    222  106  109
Future    569  457  25
Total     791  563  40

The higher future tax provision for the year ended December 31, 2004 compared to 2003 is a result of higher earnings before taxes  
and a slightly higher effective tax rate of 20 percent for 2004 compared 17 percent for 2003. Current taxes for the year ended  
December 31, 2004 are comprised of Federal Large Corporations Tax (LCT) of $222,000 compared to current tax of $40,000 and  
LCT of $66,000 in the previous year. As at December 31, 2004 the Company had over $96 million in tax pools available for use and will 
not likely be cash-taxable in 2005.

Tax Pools ($000s) December 31, 2004
COGPE     27,865
CDE      27,076
CEE      12,468
UCC      21,087
Non-capital losses    2,727
ECE      204
Share issue costs    4,588
Total      96,015 
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Cash Flow from Operations
For the year ended December 31, 2004 cash flow was $12,124,000 ($0.45 per share) compared to $6,666,000 ($0.31 per share) for 2003. 
The 2004 cash flow reflect the effects of increased revenues resulting primarily from higher production volumes and increased realized 
crude oil prices.

Year Ended December 31 ($000s)    2004  2003 
Net earnings     1,952  2,134 
Non-cash items     
 Depletion, depreciation and amortization    9,003  4,075
 Stock-based compensation     599  –
 Future income taxes    570  457
Cash flow from operations    12,124  6,666

Net Earnings 
For 2004, net earnings were $2.0 million ($0.07 per share) compared to net earnings of $2.1 million ($0.10 per share) for 2003. 

Netback Analysis
Year Ended December 31 ($/boe)   2004  2003  % Change
Realized sales price   39.19  36.87  6
 Royalties, net of ARTC  4.26  7.27  (41)
 Operating expenses  9.47  7.84  21
 Transportation expenses  1.88  1.62  16
Operating netback  23.58  20.14  17
General and administrative  2.54  1.98  28
Interest   1.27  0.70  81
Current taxes  0.36  0.27  33
Cash netback  19.41  17.19  13
Stock-based compensation expense  0.96  –  –
Depletion, depreciation and accretion  14.42  10.53  37
Future income taxes   0.91  1.16  (22)
Net earnings  3.12  5.50  (43)

Drilling Results 
Year Ended December 31, 2004  Gross  Net
Natural gas wells  5  2.3 
Oil wells   1  0.3
Dry holes   9  1.7
Total wells   15  4.3
Success rate (%)  40%  
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Capital Invested 
Year Ended December 31 ($000s)  2004  2003  % Change
Land     1,226  728  68
Seismic   224  486  (54)
Drilling and completions  20,902  5,863  257
Equipping and facilities  8,871  3,510  153
Property and corporate acquisitions  52,391  16,565  216
Capitalized general and administrative expenses  534  302  77
Other    1,559  126  1,137
Total    85,707  27,580  211

Delphi’s 2004 capital program was over 200 percent greater than the previous year and totaled $85,707,000. Of the total capital spent in 
2004, $20,902,000 was spent on Delphi’s drilling, recompletion and re-entry program which contributed to increased production and new 
reserve additions. Capital spent in the latter half of the year in East Central Alberta to restart shut-in wells and increase the capacity of 
water-handling facilities resulted in increased production volumes and reserve additions/revisions. Delphi’s exploration and development 
program in 2004 resulted in 15 wells (4.3 net) being drilled with an overall success rate of 40 percent. Thirteen of these wells (2.5 net) 
were drilled in the Company’s core region of Northwest Alberta resulting in 3.0 natural gas wells (0.5 net), one oil well (0.3 net) and nine 
dry holes (1.7 net). In December, the Company, in preparing for the winter drilling season, began drilling a fourteen well program in its 
core area of Fontas.
During 2004, the Company spent $52,391,000 on acquisitions compared to $16,565,000 in 2003. In December 2004, the Company 
acquired Tercero Energy Inc., a private oil and gas corporation, for cash consideration of $43,617,000. The acquisition provides Delphi 
with long life natural gas production in northeast British Columbia. 

Recycle Ratio
The recycle ratio is a measure of the effectiveness of the Company’s re-investment program. The recycle ratio is a key indicator in the oil 
and gas industry of efficiency and profitability. The recycle ratio is calculated by dividing the current year average finding, development and 
acquisition costs into the Company’s operating netback.

Year Ended December 31 ($/boe) 2004
Operating netbacks    23.58
Current year proved reserves finding costs (including acquisitions and future capital)    21.52
Proved recycle ratio    1.1
Current year proved plus probable reserves finding costs (including acquisitions and future capital)    16.70
Proved plus probable recycle ratio    1.4
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
FUNDING

In 2004, the Company’s sources of cash totaled $82,486,000 versus cash requirements of $106,436,000. Consequently, bank debt increased 
$23,950,000 in 2004 compared to an increase of $6,540,000 in 2003.

Year Ended December 31 (Cdn$000s)  2004  2003
Sources    
 Cash flow from operations $ 12,124 $ 6,666
 Issue of shares and subscription receipts, net  56,502  3,897
 Working capital  3,860  1,063
 Mezzanine debt  10,000  –
     $ 82,486 $ 11,626
Uses    
 Property, plant and equipment additions  32,633  15,207
 Acquisitions  43,617  2,953
 Asset retirement expenditures  186  6
 Cash held in trust  30,000  –
     $ 106,436 $ 18,166
Increase in bank debt $ 23,950 $ 6,540

Share Capital
The common shares of Delphi trade on the TSX under the symbol DEE. The following table summaries the common shares and 
subscription receipts issued during 2004 and 2003.

     Number of shares/receipts
Class A common shares:
Balance, December 31, 2002    18,231,929
Issued for common shares for cash    1,836,000
Issued to DT shareholders with respect to the reverse take over of Rise    20,067,929
Common shares of Rise at date of acquisition    2,861,714
Issue of common shares with respect to the acquisition of Murias    358,000
Issue of common shares with respect to the acquisition of Fish Creek    540,540
Issue of common shares with respect to asset acquisitions    153,554
Issue of flow through common shares for cash    1,136,364
Exercise of stock options for cash    100,000
Balance, December 31, 2003    25,218,101
Issue of flow through common shares for cash    1,333,334
Issued for common shares for cash    9,090,910
Issue of flow through common shares for cash    1,622,352
Exercise of stock options for cash    269,584
Issue of subscription receipts    10,169,494
Balance, December 31, 2004    47,703,775

As of March 14, 2005, the Company has 47,784,858 common shares outstanding and 2,524,000 stock options outstanding.
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Debt
At December 31, 2004, the Company had $47,400,000 outstanding on its credit facility, $10,000,000 of mezzanine debt borrowed to 
fund the acquisition of Tercero Energy Inc. and a working capital deficit of $3,874,113 for a total of $61,274,183 debt plus working 
capital.  The Company’s credit facility, at the time, was $60,000,000, consisting of a $55,000,000 demand revolving operating facility and a 
$5,000,000 acquisition/development facility. Subsequent to year end, the Company renegotiated its operating credit facility resulting in an 
increase to $76,000,000. The increased credit facility was used to repay the mezzanine debt on February 23, 2005 and with the cash held 
in trust, acquire the natural gas properties at Bigstone, Alberta for $50,728,000 on February 1, 2005. On March 9, 2005, the Company 
entered into an agreement, with a syndicate of underwriters, to issue up to 2,727,500 flow-through common shares for total gross 
proceeds of $12,001,000. The proceeds will initially be used to pay down debt and subsequently fund the Company’s exploration program.
The Company expects to further reduce its outstanding debt in 2005 as a result of the capital program being less than expected cash flow.

Selected Quarterly Information
The operational and financial results of Delphi over the past eight quarters are highlighted by an increase in capital programs, steady 
growth in production volumes and increasing cash flow.
Production volumes per day, as a result of an expanding capital program and key acquisitions, have increased from 590 boe/d in the first 
quarter of 2003 to 2,045 boe/d in the fourth quarter of 2004. Oil and NGLs production increased from 27 bbls/d to 904 bbls/d, while 
natural gas increased from 3,382 mcf/d to 6,849 mcf/d over the eight-quarter period.
The steady increase in production volumes, in combination with strong, but volatile commodity prices over the past two years, produced 
significant growth in quarterly cash flow from operations.
The following table sets forth certain quarterly information of the Company for the last two fiscal years:

 2004 2003
     Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1
Production
Oil and NGLs (bbl/d) 904 857 726 479 520 282 28 27
Natural gas (mcf/d) 6,849 5,353 5,943 5,308 6,081 5,779 5,049 3,382
Barrels of oil equivalent (boe/d) 2,045 1,749 1,716 1,364 1,534 1,245 869 590
Financial ($000s, except as noted)        
Petroleum and natural gas revenue 7,457 6,233 5,803 4,981 4,470 3,893 3,256 2,686
Cash flow  2,747 3,557 3,248 2,572 1,925 1,442 1,741 1,558
 Per share basic 0.09 0.14 0.13 0.10 0.08 0.06 0.08 0.06
 Per share diluted 0.09 0.14 0.13 0.10 0.08 0.06 0.07 0.06
Net earnings (loss)  (679) 855 838 939 1,042 (209) 734 567
 Per share basic & diluted (0.02) 0.03 0.03 0.04 0.05 (0.01) 0.03 0.03
Capital costs 62,084 11,508 6,979 5,136 6,603 8,628 5,029 6,603
Per unit information
Natural gas ($/mcf ) 7.02 6.25 6.60 6.93 5.67 6.12 6.89 8.48
Oil and natural gas liquids ($/bbl) 36.51 40.03 36.67 37.44 27.09 24.67 35.32 43.21
Oil equivalent ($/boe) 39.63 38.73 38.38 40.12 31.67 33.98 41.15 50.53

Operating netback ($/boe) 20.89 23.66 25.23 25.57 18.00 16.35 23.78 27.37
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2004 FOURTH QUARTER

Delphi continued to increase its production in the fourth quarter of 2004. Oil and NGL production increased to 904 bbls/d from the 
year’s third quarter average of 857 bbls/d. Natural gas production increased to 6,849 mcf/d in the fourth quarter from third quarter 
production of 5,353 mcf/d. This 28 percent increase was primarily due to natural gas properties in North East British Columbia acquired 
on December 9, 2004. Average production for the fourth quarter increased 17 percent to 2,045 boe/d versus 1,749 boe/d in the third 
quarter. 
The Company’s realized oil and natural gas liquids price in the fourth quarter of $36.51/bbl was 9 percent lower than the third quarter’s 
$40.03/bbl. The decrease was primarily due to the significant widening of light-heavy differentials adversely impacting the Company’s 
heavy oil properties. Realized natural gas prices increased 12 percent to $7.02/mcf.
Petroleum and natural gas sales increased 20 percent to $7,457,000 in the fourth quarter compared to $6,233,000 in the third quarter 
of 2004. This improvement was primarily due to increased oil and natural gas production and higher realized natural gas prices partially 
offset by lower realized crude oil prices.
Royalties, net of ARTC, were $894,000 in the fourth quarter versus $674,000 the previous quarter. Royalties as a percentage of sales 
increased to 12.0 percent in the fourth quarter, up from 10.8 percent of sales in the third quarter due to higher than corporate average 
royalty rates on recently acquired natural gas properties.
Production expenses were $2,140,000 in the fourth quarter compared to $1,496,000 in the third quarter of 2004. This 43 percent increase 
reflects higher production volumes, increased fuel and electrical costs and operating costs associated with the startup of incremental oil 
production from East Central Alberta. 
General and administrative expenses were $906,000 in the three months ended December 31, 2004 compared to $232,000 in the three 
months ended September 30, 2004. The quarter-over-quarter increase was primarily due to the accrual of professional fees and costs 
associated with year-end reporting requirements and an incremental $253,000 related to stock-based compensation expense.
Interest expense in the fourth quarter was $399,000 versus $136,000 in the third quarter. The increase in interest is due to significantly 
higher debt levels resulting from the corporate acquisition of a private oil and gas company on December 9, 2004.
Depletion, depreciation and accretion in the fourth quarter was $3,206,000 compared to $2,177,000 in the third quarter of 2004. This  
47 percent increase is a result of higher production volumes and a higher depletion rate per boe. Depletion and depreciation in the fourth 
quarter was $14.43/boe versus $12.29/boe in the third quarter of 2004.
The Company incurred a net loss of $679,000 in the fourth quarter compared to net earnings of $855,000 in the third quarter of 2004. 
The decrease in net earnings was due to lower operating netbacks and higher interest and administrative costs. Cash flow from operations 
in the fourth quarter was $2,747,000 ($0.09 per share) compared to $3,557,000 ($0.14 per share) in the third quarter.

Accounting Policies
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared by management in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
in Canada as disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles requires management to adopt accounting policies, which may involve choosing between alternative 
accounting methods, to properly reflect the nature of the Company’s activities. The significant accounting policy, for which there exists an 
alternative, adopted by the Company is summarized below:
PETROLEUM AND NATURAL GAS OPERATIONS

The full cost method of accounting for petroleum and natural gas operations capitalizes all costs associated with the exploration for and 
development of petroleum and natural gas reserves. The costs of all successful and unsuccessful petroleum and natural gas operations 
are initially capitalized on the balance sheet and charged to earnings on a unit-of-production method based upon total proved reserves. 
Successful efforts accounting for petroleum and natural gas operations provides for the capitalization of those costs associated with 
successful operations followed by a charge to earnings of those costs on a unit-of-production basis. The costs of unsuccessful operations are 
immediately charged to earnings. The Company has adopted the full cost method of accounting for petroleum and natural gas operations 
as it more appropriately reflects the nature of the risk in exploring for and the development of petroleum and natural gas. 
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Application of Critical Accounting Estimates
The significant accounting policies used by the Company are disclosed in note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Certain 
accounting policies require that management make decisions with respect to the formulation of estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. The following discusses such accounting policies and is included in 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis to aid the reader in assessing the critical accounting policies and practices of the Company 
and the likelihood of materially different results being reported. Management reviews its estimates regularly. The emergence of new 
information and changed circumstances may result in actual results or changes to estimated amounts that differ materially from current 
estimates.
The following assessment of significant accounting policies is not meant to be exhaustive. The Company might realize different results 
from the application of new accounting standards promulgated, from time to time, by various rule-making bodies.
OIL AND GAS RESERVES

Under NI 51-101, “Proved” reserves are those reserves that can be estimated with a high degree of certainty to be recoverable (it is likely 
that the actual remaining quantities recovered will exceed the estimated Proved reserves). In accordance with this definition, the level of 
certainty targeted by the reporting company should result in at least a 90 percent probability that the quantities actually recovered will 
equal or exceed the estimated reserves.
In the case of “Probable” reserves, which are obviously less certain to be recovered than Proved reserves, NI 51-101 states that it must be 
equally likely that the actual remaining quantities recovered will be greater or less than the sum of the estimated Proved plus Probable 
reserves. With respect to the consideration of certainty, in order to report reserves as Proved plus Probable, the reporting company must 
believe that there is at least a 50 percent probability that the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the sum of the estimated 
Proved plus Probable reserves. The implementation of NI 51-101 has resulted in a more rigorous and uniform standardization of Reserves 
evaluation.
The oil and gas reserve estimates are made using available geological and reservoir data as well as historical production data. Estimates 
are reviewed and revised as appropriate. Revisions occur as a result of changes in prices, costs, fiscal regimes, reservoir performance or a 
change in the Company’s plans. The effect of changes in proved oil and gas reserves on the financial results and position of the Company 
is described under the heading “Full Cost Accounting for Oil and Gas Activities”.
FULL COST ACCOUNTING FOR OIL AND GAS ACTIVITIES

(a) Depletion Expense
The Company uses the full cost method of accounting for exploration and development activities. In accordance with this method 
of accounting, all costs associated with exploration and development are capitalized whether successful or not. The aggregate of net 
capitalized costs and estimated future development costs less estimated salvage values is amortized using the unit-of-production method 
based on estimated proved oil and gas reserves.
An increase in estimated proved oil and gas reserves would result in a reduction in depletion expense. A decrease in estimated future 
development costs would result in a reduction in depletion expense.
(b) Withheld Costs
Certain costs related to unproved properties may be excluded from costs subject to depletion until proved reserves have been determined 
or their value is impaired. These properties are reviewed quarterly and any impairment is transferred to the costs being depleted or, if the 
properties are located in a cost centre where there is no reserve base, the impairment is charged directly to earnings.
(c) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company is required to review the carrying value of all property, plant and equipment, including the carrying value of oil and gas 
assets, for potential impairment. Impairment is indicated if the carrying value of the long-lived asset is not recoverable from the future 
undiscounted cash flows. If impairment is indicated, the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the estimated fair value of the long-
lived asset is charged to earnings.
ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

The Company is required to determine the fair value of the asset retirement obligations by estimating site abandonment and reclamation 
costs, future inflation rates, the expected time of expenditure and a discount rate. Using these factors, the obligation is recorded as the 
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fair value of the obligation to be incurred at the expected time of expenditure. All of these factors are subject to variability, beyond the 
Company’s control, which may result in changes to the fair value of the obligation. Accordingly, durng the remaining life of the Company, 
the actual liability may differ from that reported in the financial statements.
INCOME TAX ACCOUNTING

The determination of the Company’s income and other tax liabilities requires interpretation of complex laws and regulations often 
involving multiple jurisdictions. All tax filings are subject to audit and potential reassessment after the lapse of considerable time. 
Accordingly, the actual income tax liability may differ significantly from that estimated and recorded by management.
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Over recent years the Company has grown considerably through combining with other businesses. The Company acquired Tercero 
Energy Inc. in 2004 and Rise Energy Ltd., Murias Energy Corporation and Fish Creek Resources Corp. in 2003. These transactions were 
accounted for using the purchase method. Under the purchase method, the acquiring company includes the fair value of the assets of the 
acquired entity on its balance sheet. The determination of fair value necessarily involves many assumptions. The valuation of oil and gas 
properties primarily relies on placing a value on the oil and gas reserves. The valuation of oil and gas reserves entails the process described 
above under the caption “Oil and Gas Reserves” but in contrast incorporates the use of economic forecasts that estimate future changes 
in prices and costs. In addition this methodology is used to value unproved oil and gas reserves. The valuation of these reserves, by their 
nature, is less certain than the valuation of proved reserves.
GOODWILL

The process of accounting for the purchase of a company, described above, results in recognizing the fair value of the acquired company’s 
assets on the balance sheet of the acquiring company. Any excess of the cost of purchase over fair value is recorded as goodwill. Since 
goodwill results from the culmination of a process that is inherently imprecise the determination of goodwill is also imprecise. In 
accordance with accounting recommendations, goodwill is no longer amortized but assessed periodically for impairment. The process of 
assessing goodwill for impairment necessarily requires the Company to determine the fair value of its assets and liabilities. Such a process 
involves considerable judgment.
STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The fair value of options granted is to be charged to earnings over the vesting period. To determine the fair value of options granted the 
Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model. This model involves such factors as the volatility of the Company’s share price and 
an estimation of options which will be forfeited. An adjustment in either factor may affect the amount of the fair value determined at the 
time of grant resulting in a change to general and administrative expense and net earnings.
LEGAL, ENVIRONMENTAL REMEDIATION AND OTHER CONTINGENT MATTERS

The Company is required to both determine whether a loss is likely based on judgment and interpretation of laws and regulations and 
determine that the loss can reasonably be estimated. When a loss is determined it is charged to earnings. The Company’s management 
must continually monitor known and potential contingent matters and make appropriate provisions by charges to earnings when 
warranted by circumstance.

Financial Reporting Update
There have been several changes in the financial reporting and securities regulatory environment in 2003 and 2004 that have affected all 
public companies. The Company implemented the following new or amended standards in 2004.
ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

Effective January 1, 2004, the Company adopted the new Canadian accounting standard for asset retirement obligations. The new 
standard requires the recognition of an asset retirement obligation as a liability on the balance sheet at the time it incurs a legal obligation 
for the future abandonment and reclamations costs associated with its petroleum and natural gas operations. Asset retirement obligations 
are initially measured at their fair value and subsequently adjusted to reflect the passage of time (“accretion”) and any changes to the 
estimated cash flows underlying the obligation. The associated asset retirement cost is capitalized as part of property, plant and equipment 
and amortized to earnings using the unit of production method. The Company adopted this standard retroactively with restatement of 
prior periods.
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STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION AND OTHER STOCK-BASED PAYMENTS

Effective January 1, 2004, the Company adopted the amended accounting standards for stock-based compensation. The amended  
standard requires the Company to measure all stock-based payments using the fair value method of accounting and recognize the 
compensation expense in earnings. The effect of this change in accounting policy has been recorded retroactively without restatement  
of prior periods. The effect of the adoption is an increase to the deficit of $668,286 and an increase to contributed surplus of an equal  
amount.
FULL COST ACCOUNTING GUIDELINE

Effective January 1, 2004, the Company adopted the new Canadian accounting guideline for full cost accounting that modifies how 
impairment is tested. Impairment is recognized if the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment exceeds the sum of the 
undiscounted cash flows expected to be realized from the Company’s proved reserves plus the cost of unproved properties.
RISK MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES

In accordance with new Canadian accounting standards, the Company has elected to mark-to-market all its financial instruments.
CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS

Effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2004, all reporting issuers in Canada are subject to new disclosure requirements 
as per National Instrument 51-102 “Continuous Disclosure Obligations.”  The instrument requires shorter reporting periods for filing of 
annual and interim financial statements, management’s discussions and analysis, and annual information forms as compared to previous 
years.
CEO AND CFO CERTIFICATIONS

The requirement for companies to certify the financial statements and to certify the effectiveness of internal controls has been deferred 
with respect to the internal control component. Certification of the financial statements by the CEO and CFO continues to be required, 
however, the certification of the effectiveness of internal controls has been deferred until December 31, 2006, and may be deferred to a 
later date. Delphi intends to begin developing a plan to document its internal controls in the second quarter of 2005.

Contractual Obligations
The Company is committed, under contracts of varying lengths, for the utilization of gathering, processing and pipeline capacity on a 
major natural gas processing and gathering system. The future minimum commitments are as follows:

2005    $  1,754,573
2006      2,232,186
2007      2,230,435
2008      2,093,361
2009      2,124,761
2010      2,156,633
2011      1,818,593

The Company also has a lease rental commitment on office premises from 2005 through 2008 which requires annual payments of 
$87,000.
The Company has an obligation to incur qualifying exploration expenditures of $10,002,705 to satisfy the terms of the flow-through 
common shares issued during the year.

Business Conditions and Risk
The business of exploration, development and acquisition of oil and gas reserves involves a number of uncertainties and as a result the 
Company is exposed to certain business risks inherent in the oil and gas industry which affect results. These business risks can be generally 
grouped into two major areas: operations, including environmental, and financial.
Operationally, the Company faces risks associated with finding, developing and producing oil and gas reserves. The Company attempts 
to control operating risks by maintaining a disciplined approach to implementation of the exploration and development program. 
Exploration risks are managed by hiring experienced technical staff and by concentrating the exploration activity on specific core regions 
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where the Company has experience and expertise. The Company also attempts to operate associated projects where its level of ownership 
is sufficient. Operational control allows the Company to manage costs, timing, and sales of production.
Estimates of economically recoverable reserves and the future net cash flow they will generate are based on a number of factors and 
assumptions, such as commodity prices, projected production and future operating costs. All of these estimates may vary from actual 
results. The Company has its reserves evaluated annually by an independent engineering firm and reviews their findings with the Audit 
Committee of the Board of Directors.
Environmental risks are also associated with field operations. The Company has health and safety programs and procedures, and has an 
environmental standards policy. These policies and procedures are designed to protect and maintain the environment with respect to all 
Company operations. The Company performs an annual third party audit of the safety and environmental policies to ensure compliance. 
Delphi also carries environmental liability, property, drilling and general liability insurance.
The Company is also exposed to financial risks in the form of commodity prices, interest rates, the Canadian to US dollar exchange rate 
and inflation. Delphi manages commodity price risks by focusing its capital program on areas that will generate attractive rates of return 
even at substantially lower commodity prices than the industry is currently receiving. The Company also conducts a commodity price risk 
management program designed to mitigate large downward movements in commodity prices.
The Company has the following fixed price contracts applicable to future production outstanding:

     Type of  Quantity 
Time Period Commodity Contract Contracted Price 
November 2004 – March 2005 Natural Gas Physical 2,000 GJ/d $7.29 fixed
November 2004 – March 2005 Natural Gas Physical 2,500 GJ/d $9.00 fixed
April 2005 – October 2005 Natural Gas Financial 2,500 GJ/d $6.31 fixed
April 2005 – October 2005 Natural Gas Financial 2,000 GJ/d $6.00 floor/$6.90 ceiling
November 2005 – March 2006 Natural Gas Financial 2,000 GJ/d $7.79 fixed
January 2005 – March 2005 Crude Oil Financial 250 bbl/d $52.69 fixed
April 2005 – June 2005 Crude Oil Financial 300 bbl/d $52.34 fixed
July 2005 – September 2005 Crude Oil Financial 300 bbl/d $54.66 fixed
October 2005 – December 2005 Crude Oil Financial 300 bbl/d $55.01 fixed

As at March 14, 2005, the Company would incur an obligation of $2,149,000 to settle its financial forward contracts.

Sensitivities (Based on 2005 Budget)
 Cash Flow Net Earnings
      ($000s)  ($ per Share)  ($000s)  ($ per Share)

Change of 1.0 mmcf/d in natural gas production  1,650  0.03  500  0.01
Change of 100 bbl/d in oil production  300  0.01  100  –
Change of $1.00 per bbl in average oil price  300  0.01  200  –
Change of $1.00 per mcf in average gas price  6,000  0.13  3,900  0.08

SEDAR Filing
Additional information about Delphi, including the Company’s Annual information Form, is available on the Canadian Securities 
Administrators’ System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval (“SEDAR”) at www.sedar.com and at the Company’s website at 
www.delphienergy.ca.
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We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Delphi Energy Corp. as at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidated 
statements of earnings and retained earnings (deficit) and cash flows for the years then ended. These consolidated financial statements are 
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements 
based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing 
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at 
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants
Calgary, Canada
March 17, 2005

Management’s Report
The financial statements of Delphi Energy Corp. were prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles. The financial and operating information presented in this annual report is consistent with that shown in the 
financial statements. Management has designed and maintains a system of internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that all assets 
are safeguarded and to facilitate the preparation of financial statements for reporting purposes. Timely release of financial information 
sometimes necessitates the use of estimates when transactions affecting the current accounting period cannot be finalized until future 
periods. Such estimates are based on careful judgments made by management. External auditors appointed by the shareholders have 
conducted an independent examination of the Company’s accounting records in order to express their opinion on the financial statements. 
The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfils its responsibilities for financial and internal control. The Board 
exercises this responsibility through its Audit Committee. The Audit Committee, which consists of non-management members, has met 
with the external auditors and management in order to determine that management has fulfilled its responsibilities in the preparation 
of the financial statements. The Audit Committee has reported its findings to the Board of Directors who have approved the financial 
statements.

David J. Reid Brian P. Kohlhammer
President and Chief Executive Officer Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer
Calgary, Canada
March 17, 2005

Auditors’ Report

DELPHI ENERGY CORP.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



41

Year ended December 31  2004  2003
Assets      (restated - note 3)

Current assets:    
 Cash  $ 1,891,962 $ -
 Accounts receivable  5,675,468  4,610,458
 Prepaid expenses and deposits  1,297,865  658,807
      8,865,295  5,269,265
Cash in trust (Note 9)  30,000,007  -
Property, plant and equipment (Note 5)  120,981,996  43,963,309
Goodwill (Note 4)  12,099,676  2,234,996
     $ 171,946,974 $ 51,467,570

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:    
 Bank indebtedness $ - $ 505,620
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  12,739,408  6,951,227
 Mezzanine debt (Note 6)  10,000,000  -
 Bank debt (Note 7)  47,400,000  8,500,000
      70,139,408  15,956,847
Future income taxes (Note 10)  7,646,000  3,670,000
Asset retirement obligations (Note 8)  5,011,717  3,188,762
Shareholders’ equity:    
 Share capital (Note 9)  87,943,635  29,802,427
 Contributed surplus (Note 9)  1,072,444  -
 Retained earnings (deficit)  133,770  (1,150,466)
      89,149,849  28,651,961
     $ 171,946,974 $ 51,467,570

Commitments (Note 12) 
Subsequent events (Note 13)

Consolidated Balance Sheets
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Year ended December 31  2004  2003
Revenue:    (restated - Note 3)

 Petroleum and natural gas sales $ 24,473,573 $ 14,304,795
 Royalties (net of Alberta Royalty Tax Credit)  (2,658,657)  (2,821,589)
      21,814,916  11,483,206
Expenses:
 Operating  5,915,533  3,042,859
 Transportation  1,172,760  629,201
 General and administrative  2,186,349  768,972
 Interest   793,668  270,545
 Depletion, depreciation and accretion   9,002,635  4,074,782
      19,070,945  8,786,359
Earnings before taxes  2,743,971  2,696,847
Taxes:
 Capital taxes  221,758  105,879
 Future income taxes (Note 10)  569,691  457,250
      791,449  563,129
Net earnings $ 1,952,522 $ 2,133,718
Net earnings per share (Note 9(f ))

 Basic and diluted $ 0.07 $ 0.10

Consolidated Statements of Retained Earnings (Deficit) 
Year ended December 31  2004  2003
Retained earnings (deficit), beginning of year as previously reported $ (2,013,292) $ (3,290,469)
Changes in accounting policies (Note 3)

 Stock-based compensation  (668,286)  -
 Asset retirement obligations  862,826  6,285
Retained earnings (deficit), beginning of year as restated  (1,818,752)  (3,284,184)
Net earnings  1,952,522  2,133,718
Retained earnings (deficit), end of year $ 133,770 $ (1,150,466)

Consolidated Statements of Earnings 
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Year ended December 31  2004  2003
Cash provided by (used in):
Operations:
Net earnings $ 1,952,522 $ 2,133,718
Add non cash items:
 Depletion, depreciation and accretion  9,002,635  4,074,782
 Stock-based compensation  599,054  -
 Future income taxes  569,691  457,250
Asset retirement expenditures  (186,111)  (5,778)
Change in non cash working capital  2,363,197  (1,096,757)
      14,300,988  5,563,215
Financing:
 Issue of shares and subscription receipts, net of issue costs  56,502,499  3,896,775
 Increase in mezzanine debt  10,000,000  -
 Increase in bank indebtedness   23,950,000  6,540,620
 Change in non-cash working capital  (1,479,066)  505,620
      88,973,433  10,943,015
Investing:
 Property, plant and equipment additions  (32,632,701)  (15,206,888)
 Cash paid for business acquisitions (Note 4)  (43,617,087)  (2,953,260)
 Change in non cash working capital  4,867,336  58,815
      (71,382,452)  (18,101,333)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  31,891,969  (1,595,103)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  -  1,595,103
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 31,891,969 $ -
Interest paid $ 759,579 $ 270,545
Taxes paid   $ 45,329 $ 31,398

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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The consolidated financial statements of Delphi Energy Corp. (the “Company”) have been prepared by management in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in Canada. Certain prior years’ amounts have been reclassified to conform with the 
current year’s presentation.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reported period. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates. 

Note 1: Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Tercero Energy Inc., from 
the date of acquisition. The consolidated financial statements are stated in Canadian dollars.

Note 2: Significant Accounting Policies
(A) PETROLEUM AND NATURAL GAS OPERATIONS:

The Company follows the full cost method of accounting whereby all costs associated with the exploration for and development of 
petroleum and natural gas reserves are capitalized. Such costs include land acquisition costs, geological and geophysical costs, lease rental 
costs on non-producing properties, costs of both productive and unproductive drilling and production equipment. Gains or losses are not 
recognized upon disposition of petroleum and natural gas properties unless crediting the proceeds against accumulated costs would result 
in a change in the depletion rate of 20 percent or more.
The accumulated costs, less the costs of acquisition of unproved properties, are depleted and depreciated using the unit-of-production 
method based upon total proved reserves before royalties as determined by independent evaluators. Natural gas reserves and production 
are converted into equivalent barrels of oil at 6:1 based upon the estimated relative energy content.
The costs of acquiring and evaluating unproved properties are initially excluded from depletion calculations. These properties are assessed 
periodically to ascertain whether impairment has occurred. When proved reserves are assigned or the property is considered to be 
impaired, the cost of the property or the amount of impairment is added to the costs subject to depletion.
The net carrying amount of the Company’s petroleum and natural gas properties is subject to an impairment test. The costs are assessed 
to be recoverable if the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected from the production of proved reserves using forecast prices and 
the lower of cost and market of unproved properties exceed the carrying value of the petroleum and natural gas assets. If the carrying 
amount of the petroleum and natural gas assets is not assessed to be recoverable, an impairment loss is recognized to the extent that the 
carrying value exceeds the sum of the discounted cash flows expected from the production of proved and probable reserves and the lower 
of cost and market of unproved properties. This approach incorporates risks and uncertainties in the expected future cash flows, which are 
discounted using a risk free rate.
Depreciation of furniture and office equipment is provided using the declining balance method based upon estimated useful lives of  
20 percent to 50 percent.
(B) INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES:

Substantially all of the Company’s exploration, development and production activities are conducted jointly with others, and accordingly, 
the financial statements reflect only the Company’s proportionate interest in such activities.
(C) GOODWILL:

Goodwill, at the time of acquisition, represents the excess of purchase price of a business over the fair value of net assets acquired. 
Goodwill is assessed by the Company for impairment at least once each year. If the fair value of the business is less than the book value, a 
second test is performed to determine the amount of the impairment. The amount of the impairment is determined by deducting the fair 
value of the business’ assets and liabilities from the fair value of the business to determine the implied fair value of goodwill and comparing 
that amount to the book value of goodwill. Any excess of the book value of goodwill over the implied fair value is the impairment amount 
and will be charged to income in the period of the impairment.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
 Years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 

DELPHI ENERGY CORP.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



45

(D) ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS:

The Company recognizes the fair value of an asset retirement obligation as a liability at the time it incurs a legal obligation for the future 
abandonment and reclamation costs associated with its petroleum and natural gas operations. Asset retirement obligations are initially 
measured at their fair value and subsequently adjusted to reflect the passage of time (“accretion”) and any changes to the estimated cash 
flows underlying the obligation. The associated asset retirement cost is capitalized as part of property, plant and equipment and amortized  
to earnings using the unit of production method over estimated proved reserves consistent with the depletion and depreciation of the 
underlying asset.
(E) STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION:

The Company records a compensation expense for all stock options granted to employees, directors or key consultants over the vesting 
period of the options based on the fair value method. The compensation expense is included in general and administrative expenses 
as a charge to earnings and an increase to contributed surplus on the balance sheet. Consideration paid by employees, directors or key 
consultants upon exercise of the stock options and the amount previously recognized in contributed surplus are recorded as share capital.
(F) FUTURE INCOME TAXES:

The Company follows the tax liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, estimated future income tax assets and 
liabilities are determined based upon differences between the carrying value as reported on the balance sheet and the tax basis of assets 
and liabilities, and measured using the substantively enacted tax rates and laws expected to be in effect when the differences are expected 
to reverse. The effect on future tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in earnings in the period in which the change 
occurs. A valuation allowance is recognized against any future income tax assets if it is considered more likely than not that the asset will 
not be realized.
(G) FLOW THROUGH SHARES:

The resource expenditure deductions for income tax purposes related to exploration and development activities funded by flow through 
share arrangements are renounced to investors in accordance with income tax legislation. To recognize the foregone tax benefits to the 
Company, the future income tax liability and share capital are adjusted by the estimated cost of the renounced tax deduction on the 
effective date of renouncement.
(H) PER SHARE INFORMATION:

Basic per share amounts are computed by dividing the net earnings by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for 
the year. Diluted per share amounts reflect the potential dilution that would occur if securities or other contracts to issue common shares 
were exercised or converted to common shares. Diluted per share information is calculated using the treasury stock method that assumes 
any proceeds received by the Company upon the exercise of in-the-money stock options, plus the unamortized stock based compensation 
cost, would be used to buy back common shares at the average market price for the period. Anti-dilutive options or instruments are not 
included in the calculation.
(I) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS:

Financial instruments consist primarily of accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, bank indebtedness accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
and debt. There are no significant differences between the carrying value of these instruments and their estimated fair value.
The Company uses financial instruments for non-trading purposes to manage fluctuations in commodity prices, as described in Note 11. 
The Company has elected to mark-to-market its financial instruments.
( J) MEASUREMENT UNCERTAINT Y:

The amounts recorded for depletion and depreciation of petroleum and natural gas properties and equipment are based upon estimates 
of proved petroleum and natural gas reserves, production rates, commodity prices and future costs. The impairment test is based upon 
estimates of proved and, if applicable, probable reserves, production rates, petroleum and natural gas prices, future costs and other relevant 
assumptions. The asset retirement obligations are based upon petroleum and natural gas reserves, future costs, expected inflation rates 
and other relevant assumptions. By their nature, these estimates are subject to measurement uncertainty and the effect on the financial 
statements of changes to estimates in future periods could be material.
(K) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:

The Company considers deposits in banks, certificates of deposit and short-term investments with original maturities of three months or 
less and cash in trust as cash and cash equivalents. Bank borrowings are considered to be financing activities.
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(L) REVENUE RECOGNITION:

Crude oil and natural gas revenues are recognized in earnings when title passes from the Company to its customer.

Note 3: Change in Accounting Policies 
(A) ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS:

Effective January 1, 2004, the Company adopted the new Canadian accounting standard for asset retirement obligations.
The effect of this change in accounting policy has been recorded retroactively with restatement of prior periods. The effect of the adoption 
is presented below as increases (decreases).

 December 31, 2003
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Asset retirement costs, included in property, plant and equipment  $  1,494,750
Goodwill     1,451,496
Asset retirement obligations    3,188,762
Site restoration and reclamation liability    (768,109)
Future income taxes    (337,233)
Retained earnings  $  862,826
Consolidated Statements of Earnings
Accretion expense  $  66,670
Depletion and depreciation of asset retirement costs    165,346
Provision for future removal and site restoration liability    (750,829)
Future income taxes    (337,728)
Net earnings    856,541
Net earnings per share – basic and diluted  $  0.04

 (B) STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION:

Effective January 1, 2004, the Company adopted the amended Canadian accounting standard for stock-based compensation. The 
amended standard requires the Company to measure all stock-based payments using the fair value method of accounting and recognize 
the compensation expense in the financial statements. The effect of this change in accounting policy has been recorded retroactively 
without restatement of prior periods. The effect of the adoption is an increase to the deficit of $668,286 and an increase to contributed 
surplus of an equal amount.
(C) PROPERT Y, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT:

Effective January 1, 2004, the Company adopted the new Canadian accounting guidelines for full cost accounting that modifies how 
impairment is tested. Impairment is recognized if the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment assets exceeds the sum of the 
undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the Company’s proved reserves plus the cost of unproved properties.
Previously, impairment was tested based on undiscounted future net revenues using proved reserves at constant prices and costs and 
providing for future general and administrative expenses, carrying costs and income taxes. The adoption of the new guidelines had no 
effect on the Company’s financial position and the results of operations.
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Note 4: Corporate Acquisitions 
On December 9, 2004, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of Tercero Energy Inc. (“Tercero”), a private 
company involved in the exploration, development and production of oil and natural gas, for cash consideration of $42,531,777. 
The transaction was accounted for using the purchase method. The assets and liabilities have been recorded at their fair values. The 
consolidated accounts of the Company include the results of Tercero from the closing date, December 9, 2004.

Allocated:    
 Property and equipment   $ 52,391,118
 Working capital     2,172,974
 Goodwill     9,864,680
 Bank debt    (14,950,000)
 Asset retirement obligations    (1,011,563)
 Future income tax liability    (4,850,122)
       $ 43,617,087
Purchase Price:    
 Cash consideration   $ 42,531,777
 Transaction costs    1,085,310
       $ 43,617,087

On September 15, 2003, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of Murias Energy Corporation (“Murias”), a 
private company involved in the exploration, development and production of oil and natural gas. The consideration paid was $1,300,000 
cash and the issuance of 358,000 common shares of the Company. The value of the transaction, based on an adjusted average of closing 
prices of the Company of $1.54, was $1,880,962. The transaction was accounted for using the purchase method. The consolidated accounts 
of the Company include the results of Murias from the closing date, September 15, 2003.
On October 31, 2003, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of Fish Creek Resources Inc. (“Fish Creek”), a 
private company involved in the exploration, development and production of oil and natural gas. The consideration paid was $1,455,000 
cash and the issuance of 540,540 common shares of the Company. The value of the transaction, based on an adjusted average of closing 
prices of the Company of $1.76, was $2,404,999. The transaction was accounted for using the purchase method. The consolidated accounts 
of the Company include the results of Fish Creek from the closing date, October 31, 2003.

      Murias  Fish Creek
Allocated:    
 Cash  $ 9,714 $ 15,767
 Working capital  128,301  168,827
 Property and equipment  2,422,877  2,638,000
 Goodwill   -  783,500
 Bank debt  (200,000)  (540,000)
 Future income tax liability  (449,930)  (596,068)
 Asset retirement obligations  (30,000)  (65,027)
     $ 1,880,962 $ 2,404,999
Purchase Price:    
 Cash  $ 1,300,000 $ 1,455,000
 Share consideration  550,962  949,999
 Transaction costs  30,000  -
     $ 1,880,962 $ 2,404,999

DT Energy Ltd. (“DT”), a private company engaged in oil and gas exploration and development, merged by way of a plan of arrangement 
with Rise Energy Ltd. (“Rise”), a public company engaged in oil and gas exploration and development, effective June 19, 2003 and 
continued as Delphi Energy Corp. (“Delphi” or the “Company”), a public company. Following completion of the arrangement, previous 
shareholders and special warrant holders of DT held approximately 87.5 percent of the common shares of the Company. Accordingly, the 
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combination has been treated as a reverse take-over of Rise by DT. This transaction was accounted for using the purchase method with the 
results of operations included from the date of acquisition.

Allocated:
Property and equipment   $ 6,977,770
Working capital deficit    (1,668,449)
Bank debt     (1,725,000)
Asset retirement obligations    (236,999)
Future income tax liability    (383,045)
       $ 2,964,277
Purchase Price:
Share consideration (20,067,920 shares)   $ 2,720,705
Warrant consideration (146,250 warrants)    49,831
Transaction costs    193,741
       $ 2,964,277

Note 5: Property, Plant and Equipment
      Accumulated 
      depletion and Net book 
December 31, 2004 Cost depreciation value
Petroleum and natural gas properties $ 107,658,190 $ 16,848,598 $ 90,809,592
Production equipment  30,066,969  2,067,725  27,999,244
Asset retirement costs  2,351,259  371,158  1,980,101
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment  404,827  211,768  193,059
     $ 140,481,245 $ 19,499,249 $ 120,981,996

December 31, 2003      
Petroleum and natural gas properties $ 42,921,945 $ 9,925,289 $ 32,996,656
Production equipment  9,871,430  571,737  9,299,693
Asset retirement costs  1,668,192  173,442  1,494,750
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment  312,792  140,582  172,210
     $ 54,774,359 $ 10,811,050 $ 43,963,309

As at December 31, 2004, costs in the amount of $15,600,000 (2003 - $6,500,000) representing unproved properties were excluded 
from the depletion calculation and future development costs of $7,700,000 (2003 - $3,245,000) have been included in costs subject to 
depletion. 
During the year, the Company capitalized $484,506 (2003 - $301,725), of general and administrative costs directly related to exploration 
and development activities.
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The future commodity prices used in the impairment test were based on December 31, 2004 commodity price forecasts of the Company’s 
independent reserve engineers adjusted for differentials specific to the Company’s reserves. The following table summarizes the future 
benchmark prices the Company used in the impairment test.

     Crude Oil Natural Gas Natural Gas Liquids
     West Texas Edmonton  AECO Gas  Spec Edmonton Edmonton Edmonton 
     Intermediate Par Price Price Ethane Propane Butane Pentanes 
     (Cdn$/bbl)(1) (Cdn$/bbl)  (Cdn$/mmbtu) (Cdn$/bbl) (Cdn$/bbl)  (Cdn$/bbl) (Cdn$/bbl)

2005    51.22 50.25 6.60 22.00 32.25 37.25 50.75
2006    48.78 47.75 6.35 21.25 30.50 35.25 48.25
2007    46.34 45.50 6.15 20.50 29.00 33.75 46.00
2008   43.90 43.25 6.00 20.00 27.75 32.00 43.75
2009   41.46 40.75 6.00 20.00 26.00 30.25 41.25
2010   40.24 39.50 6.00 20.00 25.25 29.25 40.00
2011   40.24 39.50 6.00 20.00 25.25 29.25 40.00
2012   40.24 39.50 6.00 20.00 25.25 29.25 40.00
2013   40.85 40.00 6.10 20.25 25.50 29.50 40.50
2014   41.46 40.75 6.20 20.75 26.00 30.25 41.25
2015   42.07 41.25 6.30 21.00 26.50 30.50 41.75
Thereafter (2) 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%
(1) Future prices incorporate an $0.82 US/Cdn exchange rate.
(2) Percentage change of 2.00% represents the change in future prices each year after 2015 to the end of the reserve life.

Note 6: Mezzanine Debt
      2004  2003
Mezzanine debt $ 10,000,000 $ -

At December 31, 2004, the Company had drawn $10,000,000 on its mezzanine debt facility to fund the acquisition of Tercero on 
December 9, 2004 (Note 4 – Corporate Acquisitions and Note 13 – Subsequent Events). The facility bears interest at 9.75 percent and 
matured on February 23, 2005. The facility includes a 1 percent gross overriding royalty (GORR), payable to the lender, on the results of 
the Company’s 2005 winter drilling program. The GORR can be repurchased from the lender at the option of the Company, at any time 
until December 31, 2005, for an incremental rate payable on the facility of 6 percent per annum. The lender may cause the GORR to be 
repaid on December 31, 2005, if it is still outstanding at that time, for an incremental rate payable on the facility of 4 percent per annum. 
The facility is secured by $15 million floating charge which is subordinate to security held by the Company’s principal lender.

Note 7: Bank Debt
      2004  2003
Bank debt  $ 47,400,000 $ 8,500,000

At December 31, 2004 the Company had drawn $47,400,000 on its banking facility. The Company has a financing commitment with 
a Canadian chartered bank for a demand loan credit facility of $55,000,000 and a $5,000,000 acquisition and development facility. The 
operating facility bears interest at bank prime rate plus 0.5 percent, payable monthly, and is secured by a $100 million demand floating 
charge debenture and a general security agreement over all assets of the Company. The borrowing base is subject to a semi-annual review 
by the lender.

Note 8: Asset Retirement Obligations
The Company’s asset retirement obligations result from working interests in petroleum and natural gas assets including well sites, 
gathering systems and processing facilities. The Company estimates the total undiscounted amount of cash flows required to settle its asset 
retirement obligations, over the next three to twenty years, is approximately $9,081,000. A credit-adjusted risk-free rate of 8.0 percent  
and an inflation rate of 2.5 percent was used to calculate the fair value of the asset retirement obligations.
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A reconciliation of the asset retirement obligations is provided below.

Year ended December 31  2004  2003
Asset Retirement Obligations  
Balance, beginning of year $ 3,188,762 $ 359,646
Liabilities incurred  683,067  984,702
Liabilities acquired  1,011,563  1,783,522
Liabilities settled  (186,111)  (5,778)
Accretion expense  314,436  66,670
Balance, end of year $ 5,011,717 $ 3,188,762

Note 9: Share Capital
(A) AUTHORIZED:

An unlimited number of voting common shares.
An unlimited number of preferred shares issuable in series.
(B) ISSUED:

Common shares/receipts:

     Number of shares/receipts Amount
Class A common shares:
Balance, December 31, 2002  18,231,929 $ 22,046,966
Issued for cash pursuant to a private placement  1,836,000  1,800,000
Issued to DT shareholders with respect to the reverse take over of Rise  20,067,929  23,846,966
Common shares of Rise at date of acquisition  2,861,714  2,720,705
Issue of common shares with respect to the acquisition of Murias  358,000  550,962
Issue of common shares with respect to the acquisition of Fish Creek  540,540  949,999
Issue of common shares with respect to asset acquisitions  153,554  294,089
Issue of flow through common shares  1,136,364  2,500,000
Tax benefit renounced to shareholders    (932,079)
Exercise of stock options  100,000  145,000
Share purchase warrants    49,831
Share issue costs, net of future tax effect of $225,179    (323,046)
Balance, December 31, 2003  25,218,101  29,802,427
Issue of common shares  9,090,910  20,000,002
Issue of flow through common shares  2,955,686  10,002,705
Exercise of stock options  269,584  401,980
Stock-based compensation expense of options exercised    194,896
Share issue costs, net of future tax effect of $1,443,813    (2,458,382)
Issue of subscription receipts  10,169,494  30,000,007
Balance, December 31, 2004  47,703,775 $ 87,943,635

The Company issued subscription receipts late in the year for total proceeds of $30,000,007. As at December 31, 2004, the proceeds were 
being held in trust until closing of the acquisition of oil and gas properties at Bigstone, Alberta (Note 13 – Subsequent Events). Upon 
closing of the acquisition the receipts were exchanged for common shares of the Company on a 1 for 1 basis.
The 146,250 share purchase warrants outstanding at December 31, 2003 were not exercised and expired during 2004.
As at December 31, 2004, the Company had an obligation to incur qualifying exploration expenditures of $10,002,705 to satisfy terms of 
the flow-through common shares issued during the year.
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(C) STOCK OPTIONS:

The Company has established a stock option plan (the “Plan”) under which it has granted options to acquire common shares to certain 
officers, directors, employees and key consultants. The Plan provides for the granting of a fixed number of options to acquire up to 
2,532,600 shares, which was ten percent of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company on May 20, 2004. Options issued 
under the Plan have a term of five years to expiry and vest over a two-year period starting on the date of the grant. The exercise price of 
each option equals the closing market price of the Company’s common shares on the day immediately preceeding the date of the grant. 
As of December 31, 2004 there were 1,895,083 options to purchase shares outstanding.
 The following table summarizes the changes in the number of options outstanding and the weighted average share prices.

 2004 2003
          Weighted    Weighted 
          Average    Average 
        Number of  Exercise  Number of  Exercise 
        Options  Price  Options  Price
Stock options outstanding, beginning of year  1,851,750 $ 1.38  - $ -
 Granted   590,000  2.13  1,951,750  1.39
 Exercised   (269,584)  1.49  (100,000)  1.45
 Cancelled   (277,083)  1.48  -  -
Stock options outstanding, end of year  1,895,083  1.59  1,851,750  1.38
Exercisable at year-end  1,094,499 $ 1.49  695,583 $ 1.39

The following table summarizes information about the stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2004.
 Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
       Weighted  Weighted    Weighted 
       Average  Average    Average 
     Options  Exercise  Remaining    Exercise 
Range of Exercise Price Outstanding  Price  Term  Exercisable  Price
$0.99    344,250 $ 0.99  3.2  229,500 $ 0.99
$1.45 – 1.61   965,833  1.47  3.2  673,332  1.47
$1.75 – 1.90   385,000  1.86  4.4  125,000  1.86
$2.66    200,000  2.66  4.9  66,667  1.66
      1,895,083 $ 1.59  3.6  1,094,499 $ 1.49

(D) STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION:

The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation using the fair value method for all stock options granted since  
January 1, 2002. Compensation expense recorded for stock options granted totaled $599,054 (2003 - $nil).
The Company granted 590,000 options during the year (2003 – 1,951,750). The fair values of all options granted during the period are 
estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The weighted average fair value of options granted during 
the period was $0.97 per share (2003 - $0.66). The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model to determine fair value are as follows:

      2004  2003
Risk free interest rate (%)  4.0  3.5
Expected life (years)  5.0  5.0
Expected volatility (%)  46.0  50.0
Dividend per share ($)  -  -
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(E) CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS:

      2004  2003
Beginning of year $ - $ -
 Stock-based compensation - adoption  668,286  -
 Stock-based compensation expense  599,054  -
 Contributed surplus of options exercised  (194,896)  -
End of year  $ 1,072,444 $ -

(F) WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES:

The weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding used in calculating earnings per share for the years ended 
December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows. The diluted weighted average shares outstanding include the dilutive effect of the Company’s 
outstanding stock options. 

      2004  2003
Weighted average shares outstanding    
 Basic   27,078,670  21,711,134
 Diluted   28,052,986  21,897,573

Note 10: Income Taxes
(A) EXPECTED TAX RATE:

The provision for income taxes in the financial statements differs from the result that would have been obtained by applying the combined 
federal and provincial tax rates to the Company’s net earnings before income taxes. 
The difference results from the following items:

Year ended December 31   2004   2003
Earnings (loss) before income taxes $ 2,743,972 $ 2,696,847
Statutory tax rate  38.9%  40.6%
Expected income tax expense   1,067,405  1,094,920
Crown charges  524,013  957,622
Resource allowance  (939,108)  (738,488)
Alberta royalty tax credit  (37,716)  (54,040)
Stock based compensation  233,272  -
Rate reduction  (272,204)  (213,202)
Other    (5,971)  (589,562)
Capital taxes  221,758  105,879
Total income taxes $ 791,449 $ 563,129

(B) FUTURE TAX LIABILIT Y:

The tax effect of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the future tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2004 
and 2003 are presented below:

Year ended December 31   2004   2003
Future income tax assets:    
 Asset retirement obligations $ 1,592,473 $ 600,494
 Share issue costs  1,648,819  492,544
 Non capital losses  -  132,379
Future income tax liabilities:    
 Property, plant and equipment  (10,887,292)  (4,895,417)
Net future income tax liability $ (7,646,000) $ (3,670,000)

The Company has non-capital losses carried forward of $2,727,000, which expire at various times from 2005 to 2010.
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Note 11: Financial Instruments
(A) FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS:

The Company’s exposure under its financial instruments is limited to financial assets and liabilities, all of which are included in these 
financial statements. The fair values of financial assets and liabilities that are included in the balance sheet approximate their carrying 
amounts due to the short-term maturity of those instruments.
(B) CREDIT RISK:

Substantially all of the Company’s accounts receivable are with customers and joint venture partners in the oil and gas industry and are 
subject to normal industry credit risks.
(C) FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGE RISK:

The Company is exposed to foreign currency fluctuations as crude oil and natural gas prices are referenced to US dollar denominated 
prices.
(D) INTEREST RATE RISK:

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk to the extent that bank debt is at a floating rate of interest.
(E) COMMODIT Y PRICE RISK MANAGEMENT:

The Company has a price risk management program whereby the commodity price associated with a portion of its future production 
is fixed. The Company sells forward a portion of its future production and enters into a combination of fixed price sale contracts with 
customers and commodity swap agreements with financial counterparties. The physical forward contracts are subject to market risk from 
fluctuating commodity prices and exchange rates and gains and losses on the contracts are offset by changes in the value of the Company’s 
production which are presently recognized in earnings in the same period and category as the hedged item.
The Company has fixed the price applicable to future production through the following contracts:

      Type of  Quantity 
Time Period Commodity Contract Contracted Price 
November 2004 – March 2005 Natural Gas Physical  2,000 GJ/d $7.29 fixed
November 2004 – March 2005 Natural Gas Physical 2,500 GJ/d $9.00 fixed
April 2005 – October 2005 Natural Gas Financial 2,500 GJ/d $6.31 fixed
April 2005 – October 2005 Natural Gas Financial 2,000 GJ/d $6.00 floor/$6.90 ceiling
November 2005 – March 2006 Natural Gas Financial 2,000 GJ/d $7.79 fixed
January 2005 – March 2005 Crude Oil Financial 250 bbl/d $52.69 fixed
April 2005 – June 2005 Crude Oil Financial 300 bbl/d $52.34 fixed
July 2005 – September 2005 Crude Oil Financial 300 bbl/d $54.66 fixed
October 2005 – December 2005 Crude Oil Financial 300 bbl/d $55.01 fixed

As at March 14, 2005, the Company would incur an obligation of $2,149,000 to settle its financial forward contracts.

Note 12: Commitment
The Company is committed, under contracts of varying lengths, for the utilization of gathering, processing and pipeline capacity on a 
major natural gas processing and gathering system. The future minimum capacity commitments are as follows:

2005    $  1,754,573
2006      2,232,186
2007      2,230,435
2008      2,093,361
2009      2,124,761
2010      2,156,633
2011      1,818,593
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Note 13: Subsequent Events
On February 1, 2005, the Company acquired oil and gas properties at Bigstone, Alberta for cash consideration of $50,728,000. The 
acquisition was funded by the cash in trust of $30,000,007 and increased credit facilities of $21,000,000 for a total credit facility of 
$76,000,000.
On February 23, 2005, the Company repaid the entire principal balance and interest payable on the mezzanine debt (Note 6 – Mezzanine 
Debt), including the repurchase of the GORR for a total of $10,332,260. 
On March 9, 2005, the Company announced it had entered into an agreement to issue up to 2,727,500 flow-through common shares for 
total gross proceeds of $12,001,000.

DELPHI ENERGY CORP.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



Directors
David J. Reid
President and Chief Executive Officer
Delphi Energy Corp.
Tony Angelidis
Senior Vice President Exploration
Delphi Energy Corp.
Harry S. Campbell, Q.C.
Partner
Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer LLP
Henry R. Lawrie
Former Chief Accountant 
Alberta Securities Commission
Robert A. Lehodey, Q.C.
Partner, Bennett Jones LLP
Lamont C. Tolley
Independent Businessman

Officers
David J. Reid
President and Chief Executive Officer
Tony Angelidis
Senior Vice President Exploration
Michael Kaluza
Vice President Engineering
Brian Kohlhammer
Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer
Frank Lowe
Vice President Production
Tim Malo
Vice President Corporate Development

Auditors
KPMG LLP

Bankers
National Bank of Canada

Legal Counsel
Bennett Jones LLP

Independent Engineers
Gilbert Laustsen Jung Associates Ltd.

Transfer Agent
CIBC Mellon Trust

Stock Exchange Listing
Toronto Stock Exchange
Stock Symbol: DEE

Annual General Meeting 
of Shareholders
May 12, 2005, Calgary, Alberta

Corporate Information
Corporate Office
1500, 444 – 5 Avenue S.W.
Calgary, Alberta
T2P 2T8
Telephone: (403) 265-6171
Facsimile: (403) 265-6207
Email: info@delphienergy.ca
Web: www.delphienergy.ca



DELPHI ENERGY CORP.

suc•cess (sek ses´) n. 1 the achievement of something desired, 
planned, or attempted. 2 a favorable or desired outcome.

ANNUAL REPORT 2004

DELPHI ENERGY DEFINED

TSX symbol: DEE

1500, 444 – 5 Avenue S.W. Calgary, Alberta  T2P 2T8
Telephone: (403) 265-6171  Facsimile: (403) 265-6207

Email: info@delphienergy.ca
Website: www.delphienergy.ca




